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Highlights:

Housing pipeline continues 
to build, although delivery 
still held up by Government 

• Completion of two extra care 
housing schemes, in Harwich and 
Walton-on-the-Naze

• Pipeline of 23 appointed schemes 
with £197.9m of revenue 
anticipated to be recognised  

• Almost two year delay to extra care 
housing pipeline as Government 
benefit policy on elderly and 
vulnerable people continues to be 
reassessed. The Company however 
now believes this may shortly be 
unlocked

 

Activity continues in 
health market

• Pipeline of 5 schemes, on site (3) 
or appointed (2) with £14.1m 
of revenue anticipated to 
be recognised 

• Three health developments 
currently on site

Strategic capability 
enhanced through 
acquisition of off-site 
manufacturing business 

• Through F1 Modular, the Group now 
has off-site manufacturing capability 

• The acquisition provides supply 
chain benefits as well as access to an 
extended range of sectors

• Two modular social housing 
schemes currently on site

• Growing pipeline of schemes across 
housing, education and retail

Ashley House plc (the “Company” or “Group”), 
the health and community care property partner

Administrative expenses 
reduced by 7% to

£3,008,000
(2016: £3,226,000)

Net debt increased (partly 
to finance acquisition) to

£2,547,000
(2016: £1,987,000)

Cash generated from 
operations

£996,000
(2016: £559,000)

Continuing management of overheads and debt whilst strategic acquisition completed

Group remained profitable but behind last year

Revenues reduced 
by 10% to

£18,565,000
(2016: £20,737,000)

Adjusted PBT 

£53,000
(2016: £1,160,000)

Gross profit

£3,631,000
(2016: £4,793,000)

Profit before tax

£67,000
(2016: £241,000)

Financial highlights

Operating highlights
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As expected the Group made a small profit for the year to 
30 April 2017. With the continued back drop of a lack of clarity 
from Government on their policy on elderly care (the LHA cap 
issue mentioned below), the business continues to build its 
pipeline whilst a solution is found to unlock the development of 
these much needed facilities. Recent developments with funders 
and Registered Providers now being prepared to proceed 
despite the Government’s procrastination means there is a real 
expectation that schemes can start to be built out which will be 
the catalyst for growth in the coming months and years.

Chairman’s statement

Results

Profit before tax for the year to 30 April 2017 was 
£67,000 (2016: £241,000) whilst adjusted PBT 
(profit before tax, depreciation, impairment and 
other operating income) for the year to 30 April 
2017 was £53,000 (2016: £1,160,000). Revenue 
was slightly behind last year at £18,565,000 (2016: 
£20,737,000). The Company continued to further 
invest in its pipeline and completed an acquisition 
both partly financed by an increase in net debt to 
£2,547,000 (2016: £1,987,000) as detailed in the 
Strategic report.

Strategic acquisition of 
modular capability

A significant corporate development this year 
was the Company’s increased involvement in F1 
Modular Limited (F1M) and the acquisition by F1M 
in March this year of the assets of an experienced 
off-site manufacturer. F1M is now a 76% subsidiary 
of Ashley House plc with the remaining shares 

held by F1M management. The business operates 
from its leased 70,000 square feet factory in mid 
Wales. Modern Methods of Construction (MMC) is 
receiving a significant amount of positive press in 
relation to the housing crisis including the White 
Paper on Housing published in February this year. 
The quality and energy efficiency of the housing 
and other developments F1M produces is excellent 
and it has one of the few systems that meet 2015 
Building Regulations. F1M has a growing pipeline 
with places on Local Authority frameworks LHC1 
and LHC3 and most recently obtained a place 
(through Ashley House) on the new ESFA schools 
framework. The business works in the private 
sector building retail units and housing although 
it is increasingly focussing on satisfying demand in 
the affordable housing and education sectors. F1M 
is currently in production with a pilot scheme of 
affordable houses in Banbury and social housing 
bungalows in Consett, County Durham. Further 
information is provided in the Strategic report.
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Housing

The last few months has seen the successful 
completi on of two further extra care housing 
faciliti es in Harwich and Walton, both for Essex 
County Council and Tendring District Council. 
These two developments are leased to Season, a 
subsidiary of the Registered Provider One Housing 
Group. Both schemes were funded by Funding 
Aff ordable Homes and supported by grants from 
Essex County Council.

The Company has conti nued to extend its housing 
pipeline although the delivery of these schemes 
conti nues to be delayed by Government’s intenti on 
to restrict Housing Benefi t to the Local Housing 
Allowance (LHA) rate, which is substanti ally below 
the reimbursement tenants in extra care housing 
schemes require. As stated in last year’s report, the 
Government’s announcement relati ng to LHA had 
the unintended consequence of halti ng new extra 
care housing developments. Whilst Government 
subsequently agreed to support people needing 
extra care with ‘top-up’ funding it is sti ll not clear 
what form this will take and without clarity funders, 
Local Authoriti es and Registered Providers have 
been unable to contract on schemes.

The ageing populati on coupled with the housing 
crisis ensure that the demand for extra care 
housing remains very strong. We believe a 
Government resoluti on to the issue of the cap is 
close but in the meanti me the Company has been 
working with funders and Registered Providers 
to create contractual structures that allow us to 
proceed with developments despite the resoluti on 
of this issue remaining unclear. This means that 
schemes are at last being worked up to completi on 
and will proceed to site in the coming months.

Health

Despite the conti nuing diffi  culti es with 
Government funding in the health segment, the 
Company is currently on site with three health 
developments, including the diagnosti c and 
treatment centre in Durham. 

Outlook

The challenges the business has faced over the 
last couple of years are clear as the resoluti on to 
the issue of the LHA cap is awaited. In that ti me 
the Company has conti nued to build its housing 
pipeline and has carefully managed its cost base. 
The fi rst half of the current fi nancial year has to 
date been challenging with no schemes reaching 
fi nancial close, but an agreement with new 
partners will mean a much improved outlook for 
the second half and beyond. The Company has 
increased its net debt and is working to extend 
and widen its fi nancing opti ons to ensure it is 
able to conti nue to invest in its pipeline as new 
agreements with funders and Registered Providers 
are developed and the delivery of the pipeline is 
accelerated. Coupled with the new investment in 
the modular business, the Company is well placed 
to benefi t from the demands of the housing 
market and ageing populati on which have been 
well documented.

Christopher Lyons
Chairman
29 September 2017
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Principal activity

The principal activity of the Group is the supply of 
design, construction management and consultancy, 
primarily working with providers of health and 
social care on infrastructure developments from 
project inception to completion of construction and 
beyond. During the year the Group has added an 
off-site modular construction capability through its 
76% subsidiary, F1 Modular Limited.

Business review

The consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income for the year is set out on page 26. A review 
of developments affecting the Group during the 
year and of its prospects for the future appears 
in the Chairman’s statement and in this Strategic 
report. The Group is required by the Companies 
Act 2006 to set out a fair review of the business 
of the Group during the financial year ended 30 
April 2017 and the position of the Group at the 
end of the year along with principal risks and 
uncertainties facing the Group. This information is 
included within the Chairman’s statement and in 
this Strategic report. 

In recent years the Company has developed a 
significant pipeline of mostly housing schemes that 
rely on housing benefit for their rental streams. In 
the last few months the Company has completed 
two such extra care housing schemes in Harwich 
and Walton-on-the-Naze. As detailed below the 
Board is confident that the delivery of the pipeline 
is now being unblocked and that will enable 
increased profitability to be derived in the coming 
years. Unless it is clear that it can be recovered, no 
income is recognised on schemes until financial 
close and all expenditure (other than land) is 
expensed immediately.

Key performance indicators

The Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the 
Company are Adjusted Profit before Taxation 
(PBT) and the forward pipeline of the business. As 
shown in the Highlights and Chairman’s statement, 
Adjusted PBT (profit before tax, depreciation, 
impairment and other operating income) for 
the year to 30 April 2017 was £53,000 (2016: 
£1,160,000). The Group’s pipeline has grown by 
16% and information pertaining to this is shown 
and discussed opposite. 

Ashley House is a social developer with a rich history of making 
significant improvements to the health and social housing needs 
of our clients and their patients and residents. Working with 
commissioners and providers in the health, social housing and 
community sectors our property solutions help some of the 
most vulnerable in society with specialised social housing needs 
and improved health outcomes.

Strategic report
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The company operated in two main sectors in the 
year, housing and health:

Housing

During the past few months the two extra care 
housing schemes on site at Harwich and Walton-
on-the-Naze have completed and are now open. 
Both developments were funded by our partner, 
Funding Affordable Homes (FAH) and leased to 
the Registered Provider One Housing. The Harwich 
development consists of two buildings with a total 
of 70 one and two bedroomed self-contained 
apartments spread over three floors, and also 
featuring communal facilities including a residents’ 
lounge, restaurant and private courtyard garden. 
Walton-on-the-Naze features 60 self-contained 
one and two bedroomed apartments with similar 
communal facilities. Both schemes enable local 
older people with care needs to continue to live 
independently with the added security of care and 
support from One Housing Group’s Season Homes 
care and support service. These developments 
were supported by a combined £4.1 million of 
grant funding from Essex County Council through 
its independent living programme. In the year we 
also completed two developments for the charity 
HFT, one a block of seven flats for people with 
learning disabilities and the other a twelve bed unit 
for residents with dementia.

Health

Despite the continuing limited Government funding 
in primary care the Company is currently on site 
with two GP surgeries in Swansea and Wivenhoe, 
Essex as well as a diagnostic and treatment centre 
located to the North East of Durham. The Swansea 
project also includes a family centre provided by 
the Council and supported by grant funding from 
the Welsh Assembly. All three health projects are 
funded by our partner Assura. In the year we also 
completed the refurbishment of laboratory facilities 
in Basildon Hospital.

Pipeline

The effective Government hold since late 2015 
on funding extra care housing developments has 
restricted our ability to reach financial close on 
many of our pipeline schemes. However, we have 
continued to grow the pipeline during the year 
including adding schemes such as Care Homes 
that are not dependent on the resolution of the 
LHA cap. In addition to the pipeline below there 
are a growing number of schemes being worked 
on in both the Ashley House and the F1 Modular 
businesses. Our housing (largely extra care) pipeline 
now stands at £197.9m across 23 schemes which 
has increased from £162.7m and 18 schemes 
last year. The health pipeline shows five schemes 
valued at £14.1m, compared with £20.6m across 
ten schemes last year as shown in the table below.

Housing Health Total

On site   -         - 3 £8.7m 3 £8.7m

Appointed 23 £197.9m 2 £5.4m 25 £203.3m

TOTAL 23 £197.9m 5 £14.1m 28 £212.0m

NUMBER OF 
SCHEMES

NUMBER OF 
SCHEMES

NUMBER OF 
SCHEMES

SCHEME VALUE 
TO COME

SCHEME VALUE 
TO COME

SCHEME VALUE 
TO COME
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To be an ‘appointed’ scheme on our pipeline, 
where relevant we will have the following: broad 
support from commissioners and occupiers; 
an identified site; planning consent or positive 
engagement with the planning authority; an 
identified expected end owner and a reasonable 
understanding of costs and revenues.

Schemes are typically on site for 6 to 18 months. 
The current schemes on site have a weighted 
average remaining life of approximately ten 
months. Where the Company is appointed the time 
frame to move to on site is likely to be between 6 
and 24 months. Revenues are only recognised from 
when schemes are contracted and on appointed 
schemes to the extent that the Company would 
recover its fees in the circumstances of the scheme 
not progressing. ‘Scheme value to come’ represents 
the likely investment value of the scheme less any 
revenue already recognised.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks which 
result from both its operating and investing 
activities. The Board, through its Audit & Risk 
Committee is responsible for co-ordinating the 
Group’s risk management and focuses on actively 
securing the Group’s short to medium-term cash 
flows. The Group does not actively engage in the 
trading of financial assets and has no financial 
derivatives. The most significant financial risks to 
which the Group is exposed are described below.

Credit risk

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash, 
trade receivables and amounts recoverable 
on contracts. The amount of trade receivables 
presented in the balance sheet is net of any 
allowance for doubtful trade receivables, as 

estimated by the directors. Amounts recoverable 
on contracts are presented net of provisions 
deemed necessary by the directors. The Group 
employs a strict credit vetting policy based on track 
record payment history and externally available 
credit data.

Interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations principally 
through retained earnings, project-specific 
borrowings, general bank facilities and borrowings 
from directors and connected parties. The interest 
rates applicable to these borrowings, where 
variable in nature, expose the Group to interest 
rate risk. The Group seeks to minimise such risk 
by entering into fixed interest rate arrangements 
where it is financially viable to do so. The Group 
does not undertake interest rate hedging on its 
general borrowings and only considers undertaking 
interest rate hedging for project-specific term 
loans. The Group operates a policy of seeking 
to optimise deposit interest earned, paying due 
regard to credit risk and ensuring the business has 
sufficient available cash to operate effectively.

Liquidity risk

The Group seeks to manage risks to ensure 
sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable 
needs by investing cash assets safely and 
profitably. The nature of the Group’s business is 
such that it is exposed to risks associated with 
cash flow timings, particularly the receipt of 
design and development fees. The liquidity of the 
Group is monitored by senior management and 
reported by the Director of Finance to the Chief 
Executive and Commercial Director daily. The 
Board discusses liquidity and cash flow projections 
at monthly Board meetings and in between 
meetings as required. 

Strategic report  continued

2016 - 2017
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Political risk

Most of the Group’s activities are ultimately funded 
by the public sector and the Group is therefore 
exposed to risk of changes to Government and 
to its policy as currently demonstrated by the 
LHA cap outlined previously. The Group employs 
experienced professionals at Board and senior 
level as well as seeking knowledge and advice from 
external advisers to enable it to remain aware and 
to influence the outcome of the potential risks 
and to enable lobbying to help mitigate them. The 
Group also strives to ensure it maintains several 
distinct revenue streams in order to reduce the 
impact on the Group’s business as a whole arising 
from an adverse change in any one Government 
policy, and the acquisition of F1 Modular this 
year has further advanced that policy. Health and 
social care are key issues for the UK and property 
solutions such as those Ashley House provides are 
much needed for our ageing population and the 
housing shortage.

Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue recognition policy, set out in 
the principal accounting policies, is central to the 
way the Group values the work it has carried out 
in each financial year. Amounts recoverable on 
contracts relate to projects that are ongoing as at 
the period end. Management’s expectation is that 
these amounts will be invoiced net of any provision 
within the next financial year, at which point the 
Group expects to collect the balances in full.

Cash management

The Group has long-standing experience in 
the careful management of its cash resources. 
Despite a break-even position the Company 
generated £996,000 (2016: £559,000) of cash from 

operations. Part of this was used to finance the F1 
Modular acquisition but the continued inability to 
push on with the housing pipeline meant that net 
debt needed to increase. The Board was pleased to 
see that administrative overheads fell for the fifth 
year in a row to £3,008,000 (2016: £3,226,000). 
We continue to work to add more funding and 
financing capacity to enable the Company to 
continue to build and to deliver its significant 
pipeline of schemes.

The Lloyds Bank borrowing on the land at 
Scarborough is held on a six year loan, which 
is reducing at the rate of £17,500 per month, 
although the land will be used in a forthcoming 
extra care housing scheme at which point some 
of the loan may be repaid. During the year the 
debt provided by Rockpool was repaid and 
refinanced by a loan provided by Invescare, a 
related party. This was later supplemented by a 
further £500,000 loan from Deputy Chairman 
Stephen Minion. Net debt at the end of year and 
the previous year is shown below:

Cash in bank

Scarborough

Loan

Director’s loan

Loan F1M

Net debt

2017 
£000

89

(527)

(1,500)

(500)

(109)

(2,547)

2016 
£000

23   

(710)  

(1,300)

-

-

(1,987)

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
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Strategic report  continued

Social impact

Ashley House is proud to be a ‘Social Developer’. 
The Company strives to ensure that its work 
provides social value to the communities which 
benefit from its developments. Ashley House 
remains an active member of the Social Stock 
Exchange (SSX) and maintains its listing on both 
AIM and the SSX social impact segment of the 
NEX Exchange Growth Market, the world’s first 
regulated exchange dedicated to businesses and 
investors seeking to achieve a positive social and 
environmental impact through their activities.  
The acquisition of F1 Modular further 
strengthened this approach to social value as the 
quality and environmental performance of the 
modules is exceptional and its use with social 
housing in particular provides an additional 
benefit of tackling fuel poverty. The Company will 
issue its fifth annual social impact report in the 
next few weeks. Copies will be available at the 
registered office and on the website.

Summary

Whilst profitable in the year, the Company has 
not been able to advance anywhere near as 
fast as it would have liked due to the continuing 
uncertainty created by the LHA cap. However, 
new arrangements with specialist funders and 
Registered Providers mean that it is very likely 
that this will be unlocked in the coming months. 
In the meantime it is important that the Company 
continues to broaden its financing and funding 
options working with specialist funders, debt 
providers and others. The acquisition of F1 Modular 
is a key strategic development for the Company, 
not only providing control over part of its supply 
chain but also presenting additional access to new 
areas of development and especially education as 
demonstrated by the successful inclusion on two 
new frameworks.

The Company is now well diversified across the 
health and social care landscape and once the 
housing pipeline is fully unlocked there is expectation 
that the business will grow rapidly. This, coupled with 
the new modular business, means we look forward 
to the future with increasing confidence. 

On behalf of the Board

Antony Walters
Chief Executive

Jonathan Holmes
Commercial Director

29 September 2017
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“The Company is now well diversified across the health and 
social care landscape and once the housing pipeline is fully 
unlocked there is expectation that the business will grow 
rapidly. This, coupled with the new modular business, means 
we look forward to the future with increasing confidence.”
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Ashley House is forward thinking in its approach to 
social impact. The processes we use to bring about 
social and environmental change are designed to:

a) maximise the social impact opportunity offered 
to us through each business area; and

b) through review and analysis of each project’s 
social impact, build upon and improve the 
effectiveness of each development in bringing real 
social value to each of its end users.

The addition of F1 Modular (F1M) to the group this 
year enables the Company to extend its positive 
social impact into a more diversified array of 
health and social care developments and to offer 
more innovative and efficient health, housing and 
community property solutions. The environmental 
and energy performance of schemes created by 
F1M is exceptional and can make a real difference 
combating fuel poverty.

Ashley House’s social purpose is to bring about a positive change 
to the lives of people living within their communities by working 
with professional service providers, community enablers and 
individuals in the health, housing and community sectors. We 
create accessible and inspirational facilities, often in areas of 
deprivation, for those most in need. The Company’s areas of 
focus are the elderly, those with physical and/or mental health 
needs and people from other socially excluded groups.

Commitment to social value

Leeds University research

Following completion of the extra 
care housing scheme at Strand Court, 
Grimsby in 2015, Ashley House 
commissioned a three year research 
project in conjunction with North 
East Lincolnshire CCG undertaken by 
The Whole System Partnership and 
Leeds University. The study, which has 
now been completed, demonstrated 
significant benefits gained by the 
residents at Strand Court compared to a 
‘control group’ in the local area as well 
as substantial financial benefits to the 
health and social care economy. 
In summary the study showed:

1. Elective admissions and day case 
activity for the control group more 
than doubled over the period under 
investigation, whilst those for the 
Strand Court group fell by 24% for 
people with complex needs.

2. Taking into account all of the costs 
for each group the study estimated that 
Strand Court delivered savings of £165k 
per annum to the care home budget 
and £104k per annum to the home care 
budget giving a total saving to social 
care of £269k per annum.

More detail from and information  
about this study and Ashley House’s 
Social Impact can be found in the 
Company’s Year 5 Social Impact 
report which is now available on the 
Company’s website.

www.ashleyhouseplc.com/wp-
content/uploads/2017/11/SI-Report-
Year-5-2017.pdf

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

AH_Annual Report-2016-17-AW-FIN.indd   11 07/12/2017   13:31



12

Ashley House aims to improve 
access to better services and 
environments in the health and 
social care sectors. We help to 
improve outcomes across the 
UK by providing expertise to 
support clients (predominantly 
the public sector, charities and 
social enterprises) in achieving 
the most cost eff ective health 
and community care property 
solutions for their health and 
social care services.
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The scheme was developed by Ashley House and its 
funding partner Funding Affordable Homes. Essex 
County Council supported the development with 
a funding contribution of more than £2 million. 
This is part of the local authority’s total investment 
of £27million to help create up to 1,800 new 
Independent Living homes to meet demand around 
the county over the next five years.

Rosebank Park is a great success and has 
created a legacy, for the stakeholders, the staff, 
the residents, their families and for the local 
community and society.

On 22 June 2017, Rosebank Park, Harwich was officially 
opened and the ribbon was cut by its first resident, Julie 
Beazley, at a celebratory event for the residents.

Rosebank Park, Harwich

Some current schemes

Mayhill Health and 
Community Centre, 
Swansea, Wales
Currently on site, this development 
is the first of its kind in Wales and 
the new facility will accommodate 
a family centre (which is being part 
funded by the Welsh Government), 
a GP surgery and a pharmacy in the 
same building. Ashley House has 
been working closely with Swansea 
Council since 2012 in partnership 
with Abertawe Bro Morgannwg 
University (ABMU) Health Board, 
who are providing the funding for 
the running of the GP surgery part 
of the scheme.

Durham Treatment 
Centre, North East 
England
Working in partnership with 
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust, Ashley House is 
currently on site with a two storey 
Diagnostics & Treatment Centre. 
This development will provide 
purpose built, modern, high quality 
premises specifically designed to 
cater for community renal dialysis 
and day surgery. The capital cost 
of both the Swansea and Durham 
developments are being funded 
by Ashley House’s funding partner, 
Assura plc.

Social Housing Project, 
Banbury, South East 
England
F1 Modular is currently developing 
a social housing project in 
Banbury for Cherwell District 
Council and is working with a 
wide range of potential clients 
to produce a diverse range of 
off-site developments ranging 
from extra care housing schemes 
and general housing projects to 
school classrooms and student 
accommodation.

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
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“Our ambition is to provide the maximum help we can so that people 
in later life can have the best quality of life at a cost we can aff ord. 
And that’s why our Independent Living programme, and Rosebank 
Park, are so important. Our investment has enabled people to have 
the quality of life that they want, in a safe and pleasant environment.”

Cllr John Spence   Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care, Essex County Council
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As well as the normal benefits of quality and 
potential cost savings of modular construction, 
the ability to deliver classrooms and other 
education buildings during holiday periods by 
constructing the units in the factory, provides 
a real benefit with minimal disruption to the 
activities of the school or college.

Ashley House and F1 Modular have been 
appointed to the Education and Skills Funding 
Agency (ESFA) framework under which the 
group has already provisionally been awarded six 
school projects. This fits well with the Company’s 
objective to further broaden it’s range of social 
and community based buildings.

In June F1M was appointed to the £225m 
Fusion 21 National Education Modular Buildings 
Framework. Schemes will be available to be 

called off by Fusion 21 members as projects 
arise. Fusion 21 members include local education 
authorities, academies, colleges and universities, 
housing associations, NHS Trusts and ‘blue light’ 
organisations. By accessing the framework, 
members will benefit from significant efficiency 
savings and social value, plus other advantages 
including early supplier engagement and 
transparency of costs.

By working alongside both the ESFA and Fusion21, 
Ashley House and F1 Modular can help provide 
much needed classrooms and other school 
facilities for the education sector, in addition to 
supporting demand for modular construction 
within the public sector.

This year has seen Ashley House and F1 Modular appointed 
to two frameworks which will deliver modular buildings for 
schools and colleges. 

Modular construction - education

Modular educational facilities
Photographs show examples of modular classrooms manufactured by the team at F1 Modular.

2016 - 2017
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“We are delighted to have been 
appointed to Fusion21’s framework 
and look forward to working 
alongside our off -site construction 
subsidiary, F1 Modular and 
Fusion21 to help provide much 
needed classrooms and other 
school facilities for the education 
sector, in addition to supporting 
demand for modular construction 
within the public sector.”

Antony Walters   Chief Executi ve, Ashley House plc

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
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Modular construction - housing

Delivering an exciting and innovative design for transforming 
old garage sites into affordable housing.

HUSK Consett, Durham

F1 Modular is working with an architect owned 
developer, HUSK to deliver an exciting and 
innovative design for transforming old garage 
sites into affordable housing. The concept utilises 
existing garages to create new homes through 
modular construction. This first project was for 
16 factory made modules that were delivered 
successfully to site in Consett with millimetre 
tolerances to fit the existing structure to create 8 
new affordable homes.

The innovative HUSK design for these new homes 
is patent pending and provides a new way of 
contributing towards government targets for 
affordable homes, whilst utilising a previously 
undevelopable brownfield site and removing a 
maintenance problem.
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Modern Methods of Construction 
(MMC) is receiving a signifi cant 
amount of positive press in relation 
to the housing crisis including the 
White Paper on Housing published 
in February this year.

18

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

AH_Annual Report-2016-17-AW-FIN.indd   18 07/12/2017   13:31



2016 - 2017

19

Board of directors

Christopher Lyons
Non-executive Chairman

Christopher has extensive experience 
in strategic planning, corporate 
governance, banking and housing 
finance. His career spans over 35 years, 
first with Abbey National, where he held 
senior executive positions in personnel, 
finance and operations. He then joined 
the executive Board of Minster Trust 
Limited, a fully regulated banking 
institution leading the development 
and launch of an affinity based internet 
banking proposition. Christopher has 
extensive Non-executive experience, 
chairing the Board of London Strategic 
Housing and was deputy chairman of 
Network Housing Group where he also 
chaired the Audit and Risk Committee. 
He holds a Masters degree in Strategic 
Financial Management and is a visiting 
fellow at Kingston and Durham Business 
Schools. Christopher has also worked 
with the NHS Commissioning Board 
on establishing a national network 
of Commissioning Support Units and 
Clinical Commissioning Groups. He is 
currently a member of the advisory 
Board for the NHS Arden and Greater 
East Midlands Commissioning Support 
Unit. Christopher is Chairman of Ashley 
House’s Appointments Committee.

Stephen Minion
Non-executive Deputy Chairman

Stephen joined the Board in May 1995 
and transitioned to Non-executive 
Deputy Chairman in May 2014. He 
is a chartered engineer with a long 
career in design and development of 
commercial property. Following the 
award of his degree in engineering he 
joined the London Borough of Harrow 
where he gained chartered engineer 
status. He moved to George Wimpey & 
Co and learnt his main “stock in trade” 
as a property developer before starting 
his own company in 1978. In 1991 
he co-founded Ashley House where 
his specialist knowledge is invaluable 
in the delivery of the Company’s 
core product and the development 
of new services. Stephen chairs the 
Company’s Remuneration Committee 
and is a Board member of a number of 
associated companies.

Antony Walters
Chief Executive

Antony has a BA in accounting and 
qualified as a chartered accountant 
in 1992. He gained an Executive 
MBA by evening study from Warwick 
University in 2004. He joined Ashley 
House in 2010 as Finance Director 
having held various senior executive 
positions within the Lloyds Pharmacy 
group, including leading the corporate 
acquisitions, property and development 
teams. Antony spent 15 months in a 
pan European strategic development 
role based in Germany for Lloyds’ parent 
company Celesio AG. Immediately prior 
to Ashley House, Antony was managing 
director of Sapphire Primary Care 
Developments Limited which Ashley 
House acquired from Lloyds Pharmacy 
in 2009. Antony was appointed Chief 
Executive in October 2014.

Committees 
Christopher Lyons, Stephen Minion, Andrew Willetts and John Moy are all 
members of the three Board committees being the Audit & Risk Committee 
the Remuneration Committee and the Appointments Committee. 
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Jonathan Holmes
Commercial Director

Jonathan joined Ashley House in 1998, 
becoming a director in 1999. Prior 
to Ashley House Jonathan worked in 
sales and marketing with an emphasis 
on setting up new ventures. Jonathan 
was Chief Executive of Ashley House 
until October 2014 when he moved 
to Commercial Director to allow him 
to focus on the Ashley House team’s 
successful delivery of projects, from 
the earliest engagements with wider 
stakeholders through to the commercial 
structuring, development and building 
out of the projects that result. Jonathan 
is a passionate advocate of Ashley 
House’s ability to use its status as a profit 
making plc to create social value well in 
excess of its size and led Ashley House’s 
involvement as a Founder Member of 
the Social Stock Exchange. 

Andrew Willetts
Non-executive director 

Andrew has a BA in history from Keble 
College, Oxford and qualified as a 
chartered accountant with what is now 
PricewaterhouseCoopers in 1991. He 
has held senior financial roles in the 
retail and wholesale sectors, including 
Waterstones and Hagemeyer (now part 
of the Rexel group). He joined Lloyds 
Pharmacy in 2003, becoming 
finance director in 2007, with Board 
responsibility for Sapphire Primary Care 
Developments until its sale to Ashley 
House. He is now Hospitals & Homecare 
Director of Celesio UK, responsible 
for the delivery of pharmacy services, 
clinical homecare and pharmaceutical 
supply to the NHS and other public and 
private sector organisations. Andrew 
is Chairman of Ashley House’s Audit & 
Risk Committee.

John Moy
Non-executive director 

John has advised and invested in fast-
growing companies for over 20 years 
including a period sitting on the panel 
of Non-executive directors appointed 
by 3i plc to their investee companies. 
In his industrial career he was both 
a Chartered Engineer and Chartered 
Management Accountant and was 
a Factory Manager and Financial 
Controller for Mars Limited and a UK 
and Northern Europe Finance Director 
for Motorola Inc. He was the Finance 
Director of the successful management 
buy-in of RHP Bearings. John provides 
strategic financial management skills and 
experience to the Board.
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2016 - 2017

Dividends

No dividend has been paid or proposed in the year 
or the prior year.

Directors

The membership of the Board throughout the year 
is set out below. 

C P Lyons (Non-executive Chairman)

S G Minion (Non-executive Deputy Chairman)

A J Walters (Chief Executive)

J Holmes (Commercial Director)

J L Moy  (Non-executive director)

A J Willetts (Non-executive director)

S G Minion and J L Moy retire by rotation and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance

The Group has, as permitted by Section 236 of the 
Companies Act 2006, maintained insurance cover 
on behalf of the directors and Company Secretary 
indemnifying them against certain liabilities which 
may be incurred by them in relation to the Group.

Employee involvement

The Group keeps its employees informed of 
matters affecting them as employees through 
regular briefings. Ashley House plc holds Investors 
in People status.

Disabled persons

It is the Group’s policy to give full and fair 
consideration to applications for employment 
made by disabled persons having regard to their 
aptitudes and abilities. The Group also uses 
reasonable endeavours to provide continuing 
employment for employees who are disabled whilst 
the Group employs them and, where appropriate, 
provides facilities for training and re-training for 
career development and promotion.

Going concern

After making enquiries and reviewing forecasts, 
the directors have, at the time of approving 
the financial statements, concluded that it is 
appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing these financial statements.

The Group finances itself from cash resources, 
project-specific debt finance, borrowings from 
Lloyds Banking Group and other debt providers, 
and personal loans from directors of the Company 
or their spouses. These facilities are set out in Note 
15 to the financial statements and in Note 26 Post 
year end events.

The current economic conditions create 
uncertainty particularly over:

• the level of new schemes required by the 
Company’s social housing clients;

• the ability of the Company to progress its 
pipeline of extra care schemes due to the 
LHA rent cap, as described in the Chairman’s 
statement and the Strategic report;

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the 
Group together with the audited financial statements for the 
year ended 30 April 2017.

Report of the directors

2016 - 2017
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• the level of new schemes required by the NHS 
and the level of Government funding available 
for those schemes;

• the contribution earned to cover the cost  
base; and

• the availability of corporate finance within  
the sector.

The Group’s ability to progress its significant 
pipeline of extra care housing schemes has been 
stymied since 2015 due to the LHA rent cap. As 
Government has still not provided resolution to 
the issue, during the post balance sheet period the 
Group has developed relationships with funders 
and Registered Providers who are able to acquire 
extra care housing schemes on a forward-funding 
basis, ahead of the finalisation of a Government 
solution to the LHA rent cap. The Board expects the 
relationships to enable a number of the Group’s 
extra care schemes to progress to contract in the 
second half of the year to 30 April 2018.

The Group’s forecasts and projections, taking 
account of reasonably possible changes in trading 
performance, demonstrate that the Group expects 
to operate within the level of its current facilities. 
The nature of the Group’s business is such that it is 
exposed to risks around the timing of cash inflows, 
in particular for design fees. Such payments are 
normally significant, occurring at the end of the 
design process when a scheme reaches financial 
close. Where possible the Group seeks to minimise 
its risk in this respect by agreeing progress payments 
during the design process and by delivering design 
work in line with agreed timetables. Where the 
Group acts as principal in construction contracts, 
the projects’ cash flows become regularised after 
financial close, usually with a positive net monthly 
cash flow. The Group has consistently demonstrated 
its ability to participate in projects within constraints 
of available finance on a project by project basis.

The Group has a proven record of managing its 
borrowings carefully in order to ensure the Group 
continues to have adequate working capital to 
both bring the schemes in its pipeline to contract 
and then delivery, and to generate new pipeline 
schemes. The directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. The Group therefore continues 
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in 
preparing the annual financial statements.

Application of principles 
of good governance

Corporate governance

The Board supports the principles of good 
governance. The Group is committed to high 
standards of corporate governance and has 
adopted procedures to institute good governance 
insofar as they are practical and appropriate for a 
business of this size. The Board has a Remuneration 
Committee, an Audit & Risk Committee and an 
Appointments Committee, in each case comprising 
a majority of Non-executive directors and chaired 
by a Non-executive director.

Details of the risks to which the Group is exposed are 
contained in the Strategic report on pages 5 to 9.

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
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Board effectiveness

The Group supports the concept of an effective 
Board leading and controlling the Group. The 
Board is responsible for approving Group policy 
and strategy. It meets regularly and has a schedule 
of matters specifically reserved to it for decision. 
Management supplies the Board with appropriate 
and timely information and the directors are free 
to seek any further information that they consider 
necessary. All directors have access to advice 
from the Company Secretary and independent 
professionals at the Group’s expense.

Auditor and disclosure of  
information to the auditor

In respect of each director of the Company, at the 
date when this report was approved, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief:

• so far as each director is aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s auditor is unaware; and

• each director has taken all the steps that he 
might have reasonably been expected to take 
as a director in order to make himself aware 
of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Company’s auditor is aware 
of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be 
interpreted in accordance with Section 418 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP has expressed willingness 
to continue in office. In accordance with Section 
489(4) of the Companies Act 2006 a resolution to 
re-appoint Grant Thornton UK LLP will be proposed 
at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Antony Walters
Chief Executive 
29 September 2017

Report of the directors  continued
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Company law requires the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
the law the directors have elected to prepare the 
parent company financial statements in accordance 
with UK GAAP applicable laws including the FRS101 
reduced disclosure framework, and are required to 
prepare Group financial statements in accordance 
with applicable laws and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union. Under company law the directors 
must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and Company 
and of the profit or loss of the Company and Group 
for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the 
directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards have been followed in 
respect of parent company accounts, and IFRS 
as adopted by the European Union have been 
followed in respect of Group, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the  
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate  
to presume that the Company will continue  
in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are sufficient 
to show and explain the Group’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of 
the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Company’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board

Antony Walters
Chief Executive 
29 September 2017

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual 
report and financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Directors’ responsibilities 
for the financial statements
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We have audited the financial statements of Ashley 
House plc for the year ended 30 April 2017 which 
comprise the group and parent company statements 
of financial posi�on, the group statement of  
comprehensive income, the group statement of cash 
flows, the group and parent company statements of 
changes in equity and the related notes. The financial 
repor�ng framework that has been applied in the 
prepara�on of the group financial statements is  
applicable law and Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
The financial repor�ng framework that has been  
applied in the prepara�on of the parent company 
financial statements is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accoun�ng Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accoun�ng Prac�ce) including 
FRS101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”. 
 
This report is made solely to the company's  
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
company's members those ma�ers we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permi�ed by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company's members 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed. 
 
�espec��e responsibili�es of directors and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Directors’  
Responsibili�es Statement set out on page 22, the 
directors are responsible for the prepara�on of the 
financial statements and for being sa�sfied that they 
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial statements  
in accordance with applicable law and Interna�onal 
Standards on Audi�ng (UK and Ireland).  
Those standards require us to comply with the  
Audi�ng Prac�ces �oard’s Ethical Standards  
for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements  
A descrip�on of the scope of an audit of financial 
statements is provided on the Financial Repor�ng 
Council’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate 
 
Opinion on financial statements  
In our opinion:  
• the financial statements give a true and fair view 

of the state of the Group’s and of the parent  
company’s affairs as at 30 April 2017 and of the 
Group’s profit for the year then ended;  
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• the Group financial statements have been  
properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union;  

• the parent company financial statements have 
been properly prepared in accordance with  
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accoun�ng 
Prac�ce; and  

• the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the  
Companies Act 2006.  

 
Opinion on other ma�ers prescribed by the  
Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit: 
• the informa�on given in the Strategic report and 

Directors’ report for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements; and  

• the Strategic report and Directors’ report have 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

 
Ma�er on �hich �e are required to report under 
the Companies Act 2006 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the group and parent company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 
iden�fied any material misstatements in the Strategic 
Report and Directors' Report 
 
Ma�ers on �hich �e are required to report by  
e�cep�on 
We have nothing to report in respect of the  
following ma�ers where the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if,  in our opinion: 
• adequate accoun�ng records have not been kept 

by the parent company, or returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or  

• the parent company financial statements are not 
in agreement with the accoun�ng records and 
returns; or  

• certain disclosures of directors’ remunera�on 
specified by law are not made; or  

• we have not received all the informa�on and  
explana�ons we require for our audit. 

 
Mark Bishop ACA (Senior Statutory Auditor)  
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP  
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
Oxford Rowan Place 
29 September 2017 
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Note 

2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Revenue 1 18,565 20,737    
Cost of sales   (14,934) (15,944) 
Gross profit   3,631 4,793 
�dministra�ve expenses   (3,008) (3,226) 
�eprecia�on 6 (59) (59) 
Reversal of impairment/(impairment charge) 7 73 (1,455) 
Share of results of joint ventures 7 185 97 
�ther opera�ng income 2 — 581 
Opera�n� e�penses   (2,809) (4,062) 
Opera�n� profit 2 822 731 
Interest receivable   — 1 
Interest payable   (755) (491) 
�rofit before ta�a�on   67 241 
�rofit before ta�a�on   67 241 
�ther opera�ng income   — (581) 
�eprecia�on 6  59 59 
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment charge 7  (73) 1,455 
�eprecia�on, amor�sa�on and taxa�on included in share of results of joint ventures   — (14) 
�d�usted profit before ta�a�on   53 1,160 
Tax credit 4 — 6 
�rofit a�er ta� for the year a�ributable to equity holders of the parent   67 247 

Total comprehensive income for the year   67 247 

Basic and diluted profit per share 5 0.11p 0.42p 

Basic profit per share on adjusted PBT* 5 0.09p 1.99p 

Other comprehensive income   — — 

    
��ributable to�     

    

Equity shareholders of the parent company   55 247 
Non - controlling interests   12 — 
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Consolidated balance sheet 
At 30 April 2017 

  Note 
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment 6 226 129 
Investments in joint ventures 7 1,137 785 
Deferred tax asset 8 1,400 1,400 
Goodwill 9 415 — 
Other receivables 10 387 760 
    3,565 3,074 
Current assets       
Inventories and work in progress 11 2,953 2,807 
Trade and other receivables 12 5,231 5,616 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 89 23 
    8,273 8,446 
Total assets   11,838 11,520 
Current lia�ili�es       
Trade and other payables 14 (5,296) (5,450) 
�ank borrowings and overdra�s 15 (2,300) (1,483) 
Provisions 16 (79) (56) 
    (7,675) (6,989) 
Net current assets   598 1,457 
Non-current lia�ili�es       
�ank borrowings and overdra�s 15 (336) (527) 
Long term provisions 16 (137) (171) 
Total lia�ili�es   (8,148) (7,687) 

Net assets   3,690 3,833 

Equity       
Share capital 18 594 588 
Share premium 19 82 43 
Share-based payment reserve 19 31 10 
Special reserve 19 3,113 3,248 
Non-controlling interest 19 (4) — 
Retained earnings   (126) (56) 
Total equity   3,690 3,833 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors and authorised for issue on 29 September 2017.  
 
They were signed on its behalf by:  
 
Antony Walters 
Chief Execu�ve 
 
Company number: 02563627 
 
The accompanying accoun�ng policies and notes on pages 30 to 5� form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Share 

capital 
£000 

Share 
premium 

£000 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
£000 

Special 
reserve 

£000 

Non- 
controlling 

interest 
£000 

Retained 
earnings 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Note 18 19 19 19 19     

At 1 May 2016 588 43 10 3,248 — (56) 3,833 

                
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — (135) 12 190 67 
                
Non-controlling interest adjustment arising on 
acquisi�on of F1 Modular Limited — — — — (14) — (14) 

Non-controlling interest adjustment arising on 
increase in shareholding in F1 Modular Limited — — — — (2) — (2) 

Charge to equity arising on increase in  
shareholding in F1 Modular Limited — — — — — (260) (260) 

                
Transac�ons �ith o�ners               
Issue of shares to Ashley House  
Share Incen�ve �lan 6 39 — — — — 45 

Ne� share op�on scheme charge — — 21 — — — 21 
                
At 30 April 2017 594 82 31 3,113 (4) (126) 3,690 

    
Share 

capital 
£000 

Share 
premium 

£000 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
£000 

Special  
reserve 

£000 

Retained 
earnings 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Note   18 19 19 19     
At 1 May 2015   583 — 22 3,491 (546) 3,550 
                

Total comprehensive income for the year   — — — (243) 490 247 

                
Transac�ons �ith o�ners               
Issue of shares to Ashley House  
Share Incen�ve �lan   5 43 — — — 48 

Cancella�on of previous  
share op�on scheme   — — (22) — — (22) 

Ne� share op�on scheme charge   — — 10 — — 10 
                
At 30 April 2016   588 43 10 3,248 (56) 3,833 

The accompan�ing accoun�ng policies and notes on pages �� to �� form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
The nature and purpose of the Group’s reserves can be found in Note 19 of the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 April 2017 

  
  

Note 
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

��era�n� ac�vi�es       
Pro�t for the year before taxa�on   67 241 
Adjustments for:       
Share-based payment charge/(credit)   21 (12) 
Deprecia�on   59 59 
(Reversal of impairment) / impairment charge   (73) 1,455 
Share of results of joint ventures   (185) (97) 
Dividends received from joint ventures   185 174 
Interest received   — (1) 
Interest paid   755 491 
��era�n� cash �o�s �efore �ove�ents in �or�in� ca�ital   829 2,310 
(Increase)/decrease in work in progress   (146) 1,489 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables   478 (2,514) 
Decrease in trade and other payables   (154) (805) 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions   (11) 79 
Cash �enerated fro� o�era�ons   996 559 
Income tax received   — 6 
Interest received   — 1 
Interest paid   (755) (491) 
Net cash �enerated fro� o�era�n� ac�vi�es   241 75 
�nves�n� ac�vi�es       
Purchase of shares in subsidiary (2016: purchase of shares in joint venture)   (262) (17) 
Acquisi�on of trade and assets in Swi� �anufacturing Solu�ons   (415) — 
Cash acquired   (12) — 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (157) (66) 
Net cash used �y inves�n� ac�vi�es   (846) (83) 
�inancin� ac�vi�es       
Issue of ordinary shares   45 48 
Proceeds from borrowings   2,000 600 
Repayment of borrowings   (1,374) (1,473) 
Net cash �enerated fro�/(used �y) �nancin� ac�vi�es   671 (825) 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   66 (833) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   23 856 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13 89 23 

�he accompan�ing acco�n�ng policies an� notes on pages �� to �� form an integral part of these financial statements. 



Gro�p principal acco�n�ng policie� 
�a�i� of acco�n�ng 
 
Ashley House plc is a company incorporated in the 
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006.  
The address of the registered office is given in the 
Company informa�on on page 62. The nature of the 
Group’s opera�ons and its principal ac�vi�es are set 
out in the Strategic report on pages 5 to 9.  
The Group’s financial statements consolidate those of 
the Company, its subsidiaries and its joint ventures 
(together referred to as the Group). 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
The Group financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
The accoun�ng policies set out below have, unless 
otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all  
periods presented in the Group’s financial statements. 
 
�a�i� of prepara�on 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on the 
going concern basis, under the historical cost 
conven�on. These financial statements are presented 
in pounds sterling as that is the func�onal currency of 
the parent company and the presenta�onal currency 
of the Group as all the Group’s cash flows are in  
that currency. 
 
Going concern 
 
The Group’s business ac�vi�es, together with the  
factors likely to affect its future development,  
performance and posi�on are set out in the Strategic 
report on pages 5 to 9, which also describes the  
financial posi�on of the Group, its cash flows,  
liquidity posi�on and borrowings. The Strategic  
report also gives details of the Group’s objec�ves, 
policies and processes for managing its capital;  
its financial risk management objec�ves; and its  
exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
The Group finances itself from cash resources, project
-specific debt finance, borrowings from Lloyds  
Banking Group and other debt providers, and  
borrowings from directors and connected par�es. 
These facili�es are set out in Note 15 to the financial 
statements and in Note 26 Post year end events. 
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The current economic condi�ons create uncertainty 
par�cularly over� 
 
• the level of new schemes required by the  

Company’s social housing clients; 
• the ability of the Company to progress its  

pipeline of extra care schemes due to the LHA 
rent cap, as described in the Chairman’s  
statement and the Strategic report; 

• the level of new schemes required by the NHS 
and the level of funding available for those 
schemes; 

• the contribu�on earned to cover the cost base; 
and 

• the availability of corporate finance within the 
sector. 

 
The Group’s ability to progress its significant  
pipeline of extra care housing schemes has been  
stymied since 2015 due to the LHA rent cap.  
As the Government has s�ll not provided a final  
resolu�on to the issue, during the post balance sheet 
period the Group has developed rela�onships with 
specialist funders and Registered Providers who are 
able to acquire extra care housing schemes on a  
forward-funding basis, ahead of the finalisa�on of a  
Government solu�on to the LHA rent cap. The Board 
expects these rela�onships to enable a number of 
the Group’s extra care housing schemes to progress 
to contract in the second half of the year to 30 April 
2018. In the first half of the year, the Group has  
con�nued to generate cash both from schemes on 
site and from increased net debt. The unlocking of 
the extra care housing pipeline will enable the  
business to commence the delivery of these schemes 
and to further new opportuni�es for the Group. 
 
The Group’s forecasts and projec�ons, taking  
account of reasonably possible changes in trading 
performance, demonstrate that the Group expects to 
operate within the level of its current facili�es.  
The nature of the Group’s business is such that it is 
exposed to risks around the �ming of cash inflows,  
in par�cular for design fees. Such payments are  
normally significant, occurring at the end of the  
design process when a scheme reaches financial 
close. The Group seeks to minimise its risk in this 
respect by agreeing progress payments during the 
design process where possible and by delivering  
design work in line with agreed �metables.  
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Notes to the financial statements continued 
For the year ended 30 April 2017 

�here the Group acts as principal in construc�on  
contracts, the projects’ cash flows become  
regularised a�er financial close, usually with a  
posi�ve net monthly cash flow. The Group has  
consistently demonstrated its ability to par�cipate in 
projects within any constraints of available finance on 
a project by project basis. 
 
The Group has a proven record of managing its  
working capital carefully in order to ensure the Group 
con�nues to have adequate resources to both bring 
the schemes in its pipeline to contract and then  
delivery, and to generate new pipeline schemes.  
The directors have a reasonable expecta�on that the 
Group has adequate resources to con�nue in  
opera�onal existence for the foreseeable future.  
The Group therefore con�nues to adopt the going 
concern basis of accoun�ng in preparing the annual 
financial statements. 
 
�ri��a� a��oun�n� �u��ements an� �e� sour�es o� 
es�ma�on un�ertaint�  
 
The prepara�on of financial statements in conforming 
with adopted IFRS requires management to make 
judgements, es�mates and assump�ons that a�ect 
the applica�on of policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabili�es, income, expenses and con�ngent 
liabili�es. Informa�on about the significant  
judgements, es�mates and assump�ons that have 
the most significant e�ect on the recogni�on and  
measurement of assets, liabili�es, income and  
expenses is discussed below. 
 
�s�mates 
 
Impairment 
Impairment of intangible assets and investments is 
based on management’s expecta�on for the related 
asset to con�nue to be revenue genera�ng in the  
future. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which an asset or cash�genera�ng unit’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  
To determine the recoverable amount, management 
es�mates expected future cash flows from each asset 
or cash�genera�ng unit and applies a suitable  
discount rate to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows. In the process of measuring expected  
future cash flows management makes assump�ons 
about future gross profits.  
 
 
 
 

These assump�ons relate to future events and  
circumstances. The actual results may vary and may 
cause adjustments to the Group’s assets within the 
next financial year. In most cases, determining the 
applicable discount rate involves es�ma�ng the  
appropriate adjustment for market risk. 
 
�evenue re�o�ni�on 
In determining revenue recognised management is 
required to make es�mates of each contract’s  
outcome, stage of comple�on and ability to recover 
costs. Management assesses the profitability of  
ongoing contracts at least monthly. For more  
complex contracts in par�cular, costs to complete 
and contract profitability are subject to significant 
es�ma�on uncertainty. �here the outcomes of  
contracts cannot be es�mated reliably, revenue is 
only recognised to the extent of costs incurred and 
where management assesses that costs will be fully 
recoverable. Management undertakes this  
assessment with reference to the terms of each  
contract, previous experience and the opinion of its 
legal advisers where required. The Group’s revenue 
recogni�on policy is given below. A detailed review 
of income accrued on all schemes is performed  
regularly and fully discussed with the Board to  
ensure all balances are recoverable. 
 
�a�a�on 
To complete provisions for taxa�on, es�mates have 
been applied. These es�mates involve assessing the 
probability that deferred tax assets resul�ng from 
deduc�ble temporary di�erences and tax losses can 
be u�lised to o�set taxable income �see Notes � and ��. 
 
Joint ventures 
Management has exercised judgement in concluding 
that the interests held in the NHS LIFT Companies 
are joint ventures and are therefore consolidated 
under the equity accoun�ng method �see Note ��. 
 
�asis o� �onso�i�a�on 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Company and  
en��es controlled by the Company �its subsidiaries� 
made up to 30 April each year.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Intra-group transac�ons, balances, income and  
expenses are eliminated fully on consolida�on.  
Intra-group losses are eliminated except to the extent 
that they provide evidence of impairment of the asset 
transferred. �n��es controlled by Ashley �ouse plc 
are en��es over which the group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the en�ty and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the en�ty.  
 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences un�l the date that control 
ceases. Amounts reported in the financial statements 
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to 
bring the accoun�ng policies used in line with those 
used by the Group. 
 
Investment in joint ventures and associates 
 
The Group accounts for investments in joint ventures 
and associates under the e�uity accoun�ng method. 
Investments in joint ventures and associates are  
carried in the consolidated balance sheet at the 
Group’s share of their net assets at the date of  
ac�uisi�on and of their post-ac�uisi�on retained 
profits or losses, less any distribu�ons received.  
The resul�ng balance is reviewed for impairment at 
least annually. The consolidated statement of  
comprehensive income shows the Group’s share of 
the joint ventures net profit or loss for the period  
under share of results from joint ventures. 
 
�evenue recogni�on 
 
Revenue comprises the fair value of the considera�on 
received or receivable for the sale of services in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s ac�vi�es. Revenue is 
shown net of value added tax, rebates and discounts. 
To the extent that invoices are raised to a different 
pa�ern than the revenue recogni�on described  
below, appropriate adjustments are made through 
deferred and accrued income to account for revenue 
when the underlying services have been performed.  
 
Revenue from long-term contracts is detailed below. 
The Group’s contracts o�en contain both design and 
development and construc�on elements.  
Where these elements are each significant, the fair 
value of revenue is allocated to each of the  
two segments. 
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�onstruc�on contracts 
Construc�on contract revenues are recognised in 
accordance with IAS 11 under the percentage of 
comple�on method. Where the outcome of a  
construc�on contract can be reliably es�mated,  
revenue and costs are recognised by reference to 
the stage of comple�on of the contract ac�vity at 
the balance sheet date. This is normally assessed by 
management by taking into considera�on all the 
informa�on available at the balance sheet date.  
The Group’s construc�on contracts usually define 
milestone payments for the project work to be  
carried out. The maximum amount of revenue to be 
recognised for each milestone is determined by  
es�ma�ng rela�ve contract fair values of each  
project phase. �aria�ons in contract work, claims 
and incen�ve payments are included to the extent 
that they have been agreed with the customer. 
 
Where the outcome of a construc�on contract  
cannot be es�mated reliably, contract revenue is 
recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred 
and where it is probable that they will be  
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as  
expenses in the period in which they are incurred. 
When it is probable that total contract costs will  
exceed total contract revenue, the expected total 
loss is recognised as an expense immediately. 
 
Design and development fees 
Design and development fees are recognised in  
accordance with IAS 18. Design and development 
fees can occur either as part of a design and build 
contract or as services provided discretely.  
Where design and development services are  
provided discretely, contracts will typically define 
payment milestones aligned to the value of the  
service provided. Where design and development 
fees are provided as part of a larger contract which 
includes construc�on, such milestones are unusual. 
The fair value of each segment is determined, with 
design and development fees typically being  
recognised upon comple�on of the design and  
development phase. Where the outcome of a design 
and development contract can be es�mated reliably 
and it is probable that the contract will be profitable, 
revenue and cost are recognised as the service  
is provided.  
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Where it is probable that total costs will exceed total 
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as 
an expense immediately. In situa�ons where the  
outcome cannot be es�mated reliably, revenue is 
recognised only to the extent of costs incurred that 
are recoverable. 
 
�odular �onstru��on �ontra�ts 
Modular construc�on contract revenues are  
recognised in accordance with IAS 11 under the  
percentage of comple�on method. Where the  
outcome of a construc�on contract can be reliably 
es�mated, revenue and costs are recognised by  
reference to the stage of comple�on of the contract 
ac�vity at the balance sheet date. Where the  
outcome of a construc�on contract cannot be  
es�mated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to 
the extent of contract costs incurred and where it is 
probable that they will be recoverable. Contract costs 
are recognised as expenses in the period in which 
they are incurred. When it is probable that total  
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue,  
the expected total loss is recognised as an  
expense immediately. 
 
Asset management 
Asset management fees relate to the provision of 
services to manage property assets. Revenue is  
recognised in accordance with IAS 18 as the service  
is provided. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net 
of deprecia�on and any provision for impairment. 
�eprecia�on is calculated to write down the cost less 
es�mated residual value of all property, plant and 
equipment, other than freehold land, on the  
straight-line basis over their expected useful  
economic lives. The period generally applicable is 
four years. The residual value and the useful life of 
each asset are reviewed at least at each financial year 
end and, if expecta�ons differ from previous  
es�mates, the changes are accounted for as a change 
in an accoun�ng es�mate. The gain or loss arising on 
the disposal or re�rement of an asset is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised  
in income. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued 
For the year ended 30 April 2017 

Leased assets 
Leases where the third-party lessor retains  
substan�ally all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as opera�ng leases. Rentals payable 
under opera�ng leases are charged to the  
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on 
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  
Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, 
are expensed as incurred. Lease incen�ves received 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight-line basis as an integral part of 
the total lease expense. 
 
Leases where substan�ally all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee are  
classified as finance leases. Amounts due from  
lessees under finance leases are recognised as  
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net  
investment in the lease. Finance lease income is  
allocated to accoun�ng periods so as to reflect a  
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net 
investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 
 
Impairment 
 
Assets which have an indefinite useful life and are not 
sub�ect to amor�sa�on are tested for impairment at 
least annually. Other intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment 
whenever there is any indica�on that the carrying 
amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If the 
recoverable amount of an asset is less than its  
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is assessed 
by discoun�ng the es�mated future cash flows that 
the asset is expected to generate. Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent 
from other assets, the Group es�mates the  
recoverable amount of the cash-genera�ng unit to 
which the asset belongs. If the recoverable amount of 
an asset �or cash-genera�ng unit� is es�mated to be 
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset �or cash-genera�ng unit� is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is  
recognised as an expense immediately. 
 
 
 
 
 



Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-genera�ng unit� 
is increased to the revised es�mate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been  
recognised for the asset (or cash-genera�ng unit� in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is  
recognised as income immediately, with the  
excep�on of goodwill where impairment cannot  
be reversed. 
 
Inventories and work in progress 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, 
first-out method. Net realisable value is the es�mated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
the es�mated costs of comple�on and applicable  
variable selling expenses. 
 
Work in progress 
Work in progress is valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents 
the es�mated selling price less all es�mated costs of 
comple�ng the sale. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabili�es are recognised on the 
Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets are recognised ini�ally at fair value 
plus transac�on costs. Financial liabili�es are recorded 
ini�ally at fair value net of transac�on costs. 
 
Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade and other receivables are ini�ally recorded at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amor�sed 
cost as reduced by allowances for es�mated  
irrecoverable amounts. 
 
Financial liabili�es and equity 
 
Financial liabili�es and equity instruments are  
classified according to the substance of the  
contractual arrangements entered into. An equity 
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the Group a�er deduc�ng all 
of its liabili�es. 
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Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables are not interest-bearing 
and are stated at their nominal value. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a  
present obliga�on (legal or construc�ve� as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be 
required to se�le that obliga�on and a reliable  
es�mate can be made of the amount of the  
obliga�on. The amount recognised as a provision is 
the best es�mate of the considera�on required to 
se�le the present obliga�on at the balance sheet 
date, taking into account the risks and uncertain�es 
surrounding the obliga�on. Where a provision is 
measured using the cash flows es�mated to se�le 
the present obliga�on, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows. 
 
Equity instruments 
 
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded 
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
 
Interest-bearing borrowings 
 
Interest-bearing borrowings are ini�ally recognised 
at fair value less a�ributable costs. In subsequent 
years, the carrying amount is stated at amor�sed 
cost obtained using the effec�ve interest rate method. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances 
and call deposits.  
 
Income taxes 
 
The charge for current income tax is based on the 
results for the period as adjusted for items that are 
non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substan�vely 
enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is 
accounted for on temporary differences using the 
liability method, with deferred tax liabili�es  
generally being provided for in full and deferred tax 
assets being recognised to the extent that it is 
judged probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences 
can be u�lised and where the �ming of such  
u�lisa�on can be judged with reasonable accuracy. 
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Se�menta� rep�r�n� 
 
�pera�ng segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal repor�ng provided to the chief  
opera�ng decision ma�er. The chief opera�ng decision ma�er has been iden�fied as the �oard, at which level 
strategic decisions are made. 
 
Share based payments 
 
The Company issues equity-se�led share based payments to the execu�ve directors and certain senior  
managers in the form of share op�ons. The Company has applied the requirements of Interna�onal Financial 
Repor�ng Standard �IFRS� � Share based payment. Equity-se�led share based payments are measured at fair 
value at the date of grant. �p�ons are valued using a �lac�-Scholes simula�on. The fair value determined at the 
grant date of the equity-se�led, share based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the ves�ng  
period, based on the Company’s es�mate of equity instruments that are expected to vest, updated at each  
balance sheet date. 
 
The Company operates a Share Incen�ve �lan allowing employees to buy shares in Ashley House plc. The cost of 
the shares is spread over the ves�ng period.  
 
�e� and re��sed ���Ss �n �ss�e b�t n�t yet e�e���e 
 
At the date of authorisa�on of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and  
revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet e�ec�ve and had not yet been adopted by the EU: 

IFRS 9   
     
IFRS 15   
     
IFRS 16       
 
Amendments to IFRS 2   
 
 
Annual improvements to IFRS 
 
 
Clari�ca�ons to IFRS 15 
 
Amendments to IAS 12 
 
 
Annual Improvements to IFRS 
 
 
Disclosure Ini�a�ve� Amendments to IAS �  

Financial Instruments (IASB e�ec�ve date 1 �anuar� 2�18�  
 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (e�ec�ve 1 �anuar� 2�18� 
 
Leases (e�ec�ve 1 �anuar� 2�19�  
 
Classi�ca�on and �easurement of Share��ased �a�ment �ransac�ons 
(e�ec�ve �1 �anuar� 2�18� 
 
(2�1��2�16 C�cle� � Rela�n� to IAS 28 Investment in associates and joint 
ventures� (e�ec�ve 1 �anuar� 2�18� 
 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (e�ec�ve 1 �anuar� 2�18� 
 
Reco�ni�on of Deferred �a� Assets for Unrealised Losses  
(e�ec�ve 1 �anuar� 2�18� 
 
(2�1��2�16 C�cle� � Rela�n� to IFRS12 Disclosure of interest in other  
en��es (e�ec�ve 1 �anuar� 2�1�� 
 
Statement of Cash Flows (e�ec�ve 1 �anuar� 2�1��  
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Notes to the financial statements continued 
For the year ended 30 April 2017 

The directors do not expect that the adop�on of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group in future periods, except that IFRS 9 will impact both the measurement and 
disclosures of financial instruments and IFRS 15 may have an impact on revenue recogni�on and related  
disclosures. �eyond the informa�on above, it is not prac�cable to provide a reasonable es�mate of the e�ect of 
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 un�l a detailed review has been completed. 
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1 Revenue and business segments 
 
�he Group�s principal ac��i�es are design and construc�on management, primarily opera�ng in the �ousing and 
�ealth sectors, and the off�site construc�on o� accommoda�on modules (Modular). 
 
Business segments 
During the year the Group acquired a majority shareholding in F1 Modular Limited which operates in the offsite, 
or Modular construc�on sector. �egment results, assets and liabili�es include items directly a�ributable to a 
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly  
corporate assets and expenses, cash, borrowings and current and de�erred tax balances. �egment in�orma�on is 
presented below:  

2017 
Housing 

£000 
Health 

£000 
Modular 

£000 
Consolidated 

£000 
Revenue 14,235 3,603 727 18,565 

There are no inter-segment sales. All revenue is from external customers.         

Result         
Segment result 2,086 1,419 230 3,735 

Unallocated corporate expenses       (2,927) 

Profit from opera�ons       808 

Unallocated deprecia�on       (59) 

Reversal of impairment       73 

Interest receivable       — 
Interest payable       (755) 

Profit before tax       67 
Tax charge       — 

�ro�t a�er ta�       67 

2017 
Housing 

£000 
Health 

£000 
Modular 

£000 
Consolidated 

£000 

Balance sheet         
Assets         

Segment assets 6,555 2,065 886 9,506 

Unallocated corporate assets       2,332 

Consolidated total assets       11,838 

�iabili�es         
Segment liabili�es (2,237) (2,442) (506) (5,185) 

Unallocated corporate liabili�es       (2,963) 

Consolidated total liabili�es       (8,148) 
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During the year ended 30 April 2017 the Group’s largest customer accounted for £12,172,000 of total revenue with 
£218,000 due at the year end. These sales represent 66% of total revenue and are included within Housing. 
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2016 Housing 
£000 

Health 
£000 

Consolidated 
£000 

Revenue 10,714 10,023 20,737 

There are no inter-segment sales. All revenue is from external customers.       
Result       
Segment result 1,959 2,804 4,763 

�ther opera�ng income     581 

Unallocated corporate expenses     (3,099) 

�ro�t from opera�ons     2,245 
Unallocated deprecia�on and impairment     (1,514) 
Interest receivable     1 
Interest payable     (491) 

�ro�t before taxa�on     241 
Tax credit     6 

�ro�t a�er tax     247 

2016 Housing 
£000 

Health 
£000 

Consolidated 
£000 

Balance sheet       
Assets       
Segment assets 4,261 4,757 9,018 

Unallocated corporate assets     2,502 

Consolidated total assets     11,520 

�iabili�es       
Segment liabili�es (3,408) (2,597) (6,005) 

Unallocated corporate liabili�es     (1,682) 

Consolidated total liabili�es     (7,687) 
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2 �pera�n� pro�t 

The average number of employees of the Group during the year ended 30 April 2017 was 42 (2016: 36). The number of 
employees of the Group at 30 April 2017 was 83 (2016: 34), including 48 employees of F1 Modular Limited (2016: nil) and 
five remunerated directors (2016: five). The directors believe no further categorisa�on is appropriate.  
  
Directors’ emoluments amounted to £478,000 (2016: £417,000). Further details of emoluments paid to directors, including 
details of the highest paid director, are contained in the Remunera�on �ommi�ee report on pages 37 to 38. The directors 
are deemed to be key management. �ension contribu�ons of £15,000 were made in respect of the directors during the year 
ended 30 April 2017 (2016: £15,000).  

3 Directors and employees  
Staff costs during the year for the Group were as follows:    

  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Opera�ng pro�t is arrived at a�er credi�ng�     

Other opera�ng inco�e � inco�e derived fro� the sale of non-core assets — 581 

Opera�ng pro�t is arrived at a�er charging�     

�ental of pre�ises � opera�ng leases (see Note 21) 90 105 

Staff costs (see Note 3) 2,497 2,473 

�uditor’s re�unera�on (see belo�) 98 78 

�eprecia�on (see Note 6) 59 59 

  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

��ditor�s rem�nera�on�     
Fees payable for the audit of the Group’s annual accounts 54 54 
Fees payable for the audit of the Group’s subsidiaries 17 11 
Non-recurring audit fees payable 4 — 

Total audit fees 75 65 
      
Ta�a�on co�pliance 15 13 
Other advisory services 8 — 

Total non-audit fees 23 13 

Total fees 98 78 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Wages and salaries 2,198 2,168 

Social security costs 225 229 

�ension costs � de�ned contribu�on sche�e 74 76 

  2,497 2,473 
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5 Earnings per ordinary share 
 
The calcula�on of the basic earnings per share is based on the profit a�ributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the 
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year. 
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  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Profit before tax 67 241 

Profit mul�plied b� standard rate of corpora�on tax in the U� of 20% (2016: 20%) 13 48 

�xpenses not deduc�ble for tax purposes 58 175 

Income not allowable for tax purposes (131) — 

Capital allowances in excess of deprecia�on (2) (4) 

Adjustments rela�ng to prior periods — (6) 

U�lisa�on of tax losses upon which no deferred tax asset had been recognised — (219) 

Unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax assets 62 — 

Tax charge/(credit) for year — (6) 

4 Tax charge/(credit) 
 
A reconcilia�on from the standard rate of corpora�on ta� in the UK of 20% (2016: 20%) to the actual rate is as follows:  

Current income tax — (6) 
Deferred tax — — 

Tax charge/ (credit) for year — (6) 

Comprising: 

  2017   2016 

  
Adjusted 

PBT* 
£000 

Profit 
£000 

Weighted 
average 
number 

of shares 

Per share 
amount 

pence 

Adjusted 
PBT* 
£000 

Profit 
£000 

Weighted 
average 
number 

of shares 

Per share 
amount 

pence 

Basic and diluted profit 
per share   67 59,102,203 0.11p   247 58,355,706 0.42p 

Profit per share based 
on adjusted PBT* 53   59,102,203 0.09p 1,160   58,355,706 1.99p 

* Adjusted PBT = Profit before ta�a�on� deprecia�on� impairment and other opera�ng income. 
 
No dividend was paid in the year ended 30 April 2017 (2016: £nil). 
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Plant  
& machinery 

£000 

Office 
equipment, 

furniture 
and fixtures 

£000 

Motor 
vehicles 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Cost         
As at 1 May 2016 — 202 52 254 
Addi�ons — 16 — 16 
Acquisi�ons through �usiness com�ina�ons 141 — 1 142 
Disposals — (11) (8) (19) 
As at 30 April 2017 141 207 45 393 
Accumulated deprecia�on         
As at 1 May 2016 — 81 44 125 
Charge for the year 6 49 4 59 
Disposals — (10) (7) (17) 
As at 30 April 2017 6 120 41 167 
Carrying amount at 30 April 2017 135 87 4 226 

    

Office 
equipment, 

furniture 
and fixtures 

£000 

Motor 
vehicles 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Cost         
As at 1 May 2015   180 52 232 
Addi�ons   66 — 66 
Disposals   (44) — (44) 
As at 30 April 2016   202 52 254 
Accumulated deprecia�on         
As at 1 May 2015   73 37 110 
Charge for the year   52 7 59 
Disposals   (44) — (44) 
As at 30 April 2016   81 44 125 

Carrying amount at 30 April 2016   121 8 129 

6 Property, plant and equipment 
 
The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment for the periods presented in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements as at 30 April 2017 are reconciled as follows: 
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7 Joint ventures and associates 
 
The Group has the following joint ventures and associates 
which are all incorporated in England and Wales: 

Infracare Group Limited, AHBB ELL Holdings  
Limited, AHBB LHIL Holdings Limited  
These companies operate in the NHS LIFT (Local  
Improvement Finance Trust) arena. The companies 
are public private partnerships which provide  
purpose-built premises for health and local authority 
services in England. The companies are jointly held 
and controlled with Amber Infrastructure Group 
(Amber). The Group owns 100% of the “A” shares in 
these companies, which gives control of development 
ac�vi�es. Amber owns 100% of the “�” shares which 
gives control of investment ac�vi�es and en�tles 
them to protect exis�ng income streams from  
underlying investments and gives them the right to 
future investment opportuni�es from the NHS LIFT 
pipeline of projects. Due to there being contractually 
agreed sharing of control, these en��es are deemed 
to be jointly controlled en��es. These companies do 
not trade but hold interests in underlying NHS LIFT 
companies:  
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Whilst geographically diverse, the companies below 
all provide iden�cal services to their respec�ve NHS 
bodies and are managed as one investment by the 
Group, and therefore form one Cash Genera�ng �nit. 

These investments are presented below in aggregate  
as LIFTCos.  
 
Other joint ventures 
The Group jointly controls IPC Plus Limited with a 
group of General Prac��oners. IPC Plus Limited was  
previously engaged in providing clinical services in 
West Sussex. IPC Plus Limited ceased trading during 
the year to 30 April 2017.  
 
The Group also owns a share in Partnering Health 
Limited which provides clinical services in Hampshire. 
The company is owned with a group of General  
Prac��oners and management.  
 
In October 2016 Ashley House plc transferred its  
interest in Wilco Plus Limited, which was held at a 
£500 carrying value (30 April 2016: £500) to  
Wilcodoc Limited, and relinquished its interest in a 
contract operated jointly with Wilcodoc Limited for 
considera�on of £117,500. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Infracare Group Limited  Bristol Infracare LIFT  
Limited 

 Oxford Infracare LIFT  
Limited 

 Dudley Infracare LIFT 
Limited  

AHBB ELL Holdings Limited  East London LIFT  
Investments Limited 

AHBB LHIL Holdings Limited  Li� Healthcare  
Investments Limited  

  Propor�on held 

Infracare Group Limited 100% (A shares) 

AHBB ELL Holdings Limited 100% (A shares) 
AHBB LHIL Holdings Limited 100% (A shares) 
IPC Plus Limited 50% 
Partnering Health Limited 33% 
AHLP Pharmacy Limited 25% 



Impairment  
The Group conducted an impairment review of its  
investments in joint ventures at 30 April 2017. 
 
The carrying value of the LIFTCo investment was assessed 
against the discounted future cash flows expected to be  
generated by that asset. The expected future cash flows are 
taken from the Board’s latest projec�ons which cover the 
year to 30 April 2018, extrapolated to cover the remaining life 
of the arrangement. 
 
Subsequent to the year end the Group established a joint 
arrangement with organisa�ons operated by two individuals 
with significant experience and influence in the LIFT  
companies in which the Group is a shareholder as well as the 
LIFT community as a whole. The purpose of the joint venture 
is to support the LIFTCos to increase the services delivered by 
them to their local health and social care economies.  
As a result of this ac�vity, the Board expects the joint venture 
to generate new business for the Group to deliver to the 
LIFTCos. 
 
The Board has prudently assumed that it will not be un�l 
2021 that the joint venture brings forward any new  
development projects for the Group to deliver, and that the 
level of profit earned from each will be at a significantly lower 
level than earned from previous such projects. In the years 
un�l 2021 the Board has assumed the Group only con�nues 
to earn a very low level of project management and  
consultancy fees. In addi�on to the new joint venture  
described above, the expected future cash flows consider the 
following factors: management’s expecta�ons, based on 
historic experience and current knowledge of the marketplace; 
both industry specific and na�onal expected growth rates; 
con�nued poli�cal uncertainty in the �� health sector. 
 
These expected future cash flows are discounted using the 
Group’s weighted average cost of capital of 11.3% (2016: 
12.2%). As a result of these considera�ons, the asset has 
been impaired by £302,000. The Board has assessed that, 
whilst it an�cipates the LIFT arrangements may s�ll have 
value at the end of their exclusivity periods, it is prudent to 
revise the useful economic life to 7.5 years, the average  
remaining period of exclusivity. The recoverable amount of 
the LIFTCo investment is held at value in use. 
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In addi�on to the expected ongoing revenue streams, 
in the year to 30 April 2018 the Group will receive a 
dividend from Infracare Group Limited of £655,000 
and will simultaneously se�le an historic liability to 
Infracare Partnering Limited.  
 
At 30 April 2017 this liability is included within Other  
Payables (see Note 15). The dividend receivable has 
been included in the Board’s assessment of the  
expected future cashflows generated by the LIFTCo 
investment and as a result a previously recognised 
impairment of £655,000 has been reversed at 30 
April 2017. These transac�ons are non�recurring and 
the Board does not expect to receive further  
dividends from the LIFTCo investment in the future. 
When this dividend is received the asset value will be 
wri�en down. 
 
��mmari�e� �nan�ia� in��rma��n  
The Group owns 100% of the “A” shares in the LIFTCo 
companies which only gives control of development 
ac�vi�es, and does not hold any right to the profits 
and net assets of the LIFTCo companies. As such the 
directors do not consider it necessary to disclose the 
summarised statement of financial posi�on and the 
summarised statement of total comprehensive income. 
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7 �oint ventures and associates (con�nued) 
 
Investments in joint ventures 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

LIFTCos 1,121 768 

Other joint ventures 16 17 

  1,137 785 

Movement in joint ventures in the repor�ng period:     

Balance at 1 May 785 2,300 

Share of total comprehensive income 185 97 

Impairment charge (302) (1,455) 

Reversal of impairment 655 — 

Purchase of shares issued by joint venture — 17 

Sale of shares in joint venture (1) — 

Dividends received (185) (174) 

Balance at 30 April 1,137 785 

Share of comprehensive income from joint ventures:     

LIFTCos — — 

Other joint ventures 185 97 

  185 97 

8 Deferred tax 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Deferred tax asset � �orpora�on tax losses     
As at 1 May and 30 April 1,400 1,400 

9 Goodwill 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

As at 1 May — — 

Ac�uired through business combina�on 415 — 

As at 30 April 415 — 

On 14 March 2017, the Group’s subsidiary F1 Modular Limited acquired the trade and certain of the assets from the  
administrators of �wi� Manufacturing �olu�ons Limited. At 30 April 2017, the Group reviewed the goodwill arising on that 
acquisi�on and deemed that no impairment had occurred. �ee Note 25 for details of the acquisi�on. 

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £11,170,000 (2016: £10,794,000) available for offset against 
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £7,287,000 (2016: £7,290,000) of the parent company’s 
trading losses, which the Company expects to recover against future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been  
recognised in respect of tax losses in both the parent company and its subsidiary companies totalling £3,883,000  
(2016: £3,504,000).  



  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Past due up to 30 days — 5 
Past due 31–90 days 7 114 
Past due over 90 days 356 273 
Trade receivables past due 363 392 

10 Other receivables 

In �uly 2015 Ashley House plc sold its interest in Best �rac�ce (South of �ngland) Limited (Best �rac�ce) to �artnering Health 
Limited (�HL) for considera�on of £1. All amounts due to Ashley House from Best �rac�ce were incorporated in a formalised 
loan, for which �HL is guarantor. The loan is interest free un�l 2019, and therea�er will a�ract interest at 4% per annum 
above HSBC base rate. The amount due to Ashley House at the commencement of the loan was £1,274,000.  
 
The balance at 30 April 2017 is £1,144,000. Whilst management expects to recover the full value of the loan in due course, 
during the year to 30 April 2017 it has revised its expecta�ons as to the period over which the full repayment will be made. 
Management has discounted the future cashflows expected to be received from this asset before 30 April 2021 to its  
present value at the Group’s weighted average cost of capital of 11.3%. 
 
11 Inventories and work in progress 

Inventories are materials and components stock owned by F1 Modular Limited. Work in progress is land and stock held at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value at the balance sheet date. Work in progress with a carrying amount of £2,701,000 
(2016: £2,701,000) has been pledged as security against the Group’s borrowings (see Note 15). The cost of work in progress 
recognised as an expense during the year was £nil (2016: £1,489,000). 
 
12 Trade and other receivables 

 
 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Amounts due from associated companies 480 760 

Less: amounts included within current receivables (Note 12) (93) — 

Amounts due from associated companies 387 760 

  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Inventories 146 — 

Work in progress 2,807 2,807 

  2,953 2,807 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Trade receivables 717 400 

Amounts recoverable on contracts 3,338 4,674 

�eten�ons held on contracts 789 351 

VAT recoverable — 1 

Prepayments and other debtors 387 190 

  5,231 5,616 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Trade receivables 
 

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value due to their 
short-term nature. The average credit period taken is 13 days (2016: 8 days). The following table provides analysis of trade 
receivables that were past due at 30 April 2017 but not impaired. Management believes that the balances are ul�mately 
recoverable based on a review of past payment history and the current financial status of the customers. The payment  
posi�on of past due trade receivables is regularly reviewed and ac�vely managed. Trade receivables past their due date are 
summarised as follows: 
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13 Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less. 
  

Total cash and cash equivalents are used for the statement of Group cash flows. The carrying amount of these assets  
approximates to their fair value.  
 

The cash balances held by the Group at the bank are held within current accounts and earn interest of 0.25% (2016: 0.25%) 
per annum below the Lloyds Bank base rate, which at 30 April 2017 was 0.25% (2016: 0.50%). The cash balances held by F1 
Modular Limited at the bank are held within current accounts and do not bear interest. 

14 Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average 
credit period taken for trade purchases is 29 days (2016: 42 days).  
 
The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value due to their short-term 
non-interest bearing nature. 
 

15 �ank borrowings and overdra�s 
The Group has available to it a £950,000 (2016: £500,000) overdra� facility provided by Lloyds Banking Group.  
 
The facility was not u�lised at either 30 April 2017 or 30 April 2016. Interest on the facility is chargeable at a variable rate of 
6.00% (2016: 6.00%) per annum over the bank’s base rate, which at 30 April 2017 was 0.25% (2016: 0.50%).  
 
The facility is secured by a floa�ng charge over the Group’s assets. The facility is scheduled to reduce to £750,000 on  
30 September 2017 and then remains in place un�l 31 �ecember 2017.  
 
Ashley House plc has a loan facility of £1,560,000 with the Invescare Limited group. Interest on the facility is chargeable at a 
fixed rate of 10.00% per annum. The loan balance was £1,500,000 at 30 April 2017. The facility expires in September 2019.  
 
Ashley House plc has a loan facility of £500,000 with Stephen Minion, non-execu�ve �eputy Chairman of the Company. 

Interest on the facility is chargeable at a fixed rate of 10.00% per annum. The facility is in place un�l April 201� and is  
secured by a charge over certain of the Group’s assets. The loan was fully drawn at 30 April 2017. 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Cash at bank and in hand 89 23 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Trade payables 1,365 2,148 
Taxa�on and social security payables 162 69 
Other payables 716 702 
Deferred income 495 51 
Deferred considera�on 290 — 
�eten�ons held on contracts 832 525 
Accrued expenses 1,436 1,955 

  5,296 5,450 

  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Current     
Loans – Ashley House plc 2,000 1,300 
Loan – AH Scarborough Health Park Limited 191 183 
Loan – F1 Modular Limited 109 — 
Total current borrowings 2,300 1,483 
Non-current     
Loan – AH Scarborough Health Park Limited 336 527 
Total non-current borrowings 336 527 
Total borrowings 2,636 2,010 
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15 �an� �orro�ings an� over�ra�s (con�nue�) 
  
F1 Modular Limited, a subsidiary company in which Ashley House plc owns 76% of the issued share capital, has unsecured 
borrowings of £109,000 provided by an individual connected with neither F1 Modular Limited nor the Ashley House group. 
Interest on the facility is chargeable at a fixed rate of 6.00% per annum. The loan is being repaid over the period to  
January 2019.  
 
AH Scarborough Health Park Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary company, has borrowings of £527,000 (2016: £710,000) 
rela�ng to a term loan with Lloyds �anking Group. Interest on the facility is chargeable at a variable rate of 4.00% (2016: 
4.00%) per annum over the bank’s base rate, which at 30 April 2017 was 0.25% (2016: 0.50%). The loan is being repaid over 
the period to February 2019. Security comprises a first charge over a 3.7 acre site, held in work in progress at a cost of 
£2,476,000, and a guarantee from Ashley House plc. 
 
Ashley House plc held a £1,300,000 development finance loan with Novus Lending Limited, a company administered by 
Rockpool Investments LLP. The facility was repaid in full in December 2016. 
 

16 Provisions 

Onerous lease provisions are recognised in respect of leases held for proper�es which are not occupied or u�lised.  
At 30 April 2017 the Group held two such leases (2016: two) with an unexpired lease term of 5 and 7 years respec�vely.  
The provision for onerous lease costs represents management’s best es�mate of the present value of net future lease  
payments that the Group is obliged to make under non-cancellable leases. 
 
Onerous contract provisions are recognised in respect of a construc�on contract acquired as part of a business combina�on 
during the year (see Note 25). The provision for onerous contract costs represents management’s es�mate of the present 
value of net future contact payments that the Group is obliged to make under a construc�on contract. 
 
17 Financial instruments 
 
Capital management 
The business model operated by the Group is not par�cularly capital intensive. �onstruc�on pro�ects are not typically owned 
and therefore there is li�le �ming difference between receipt of income and payment of costs during the construc�on 
phase. Design and development income is not normally receivable un�l the scheme achieves financial close and therefore 
brings with it a working capital requirement for the design work and overheads required to reach this posi�on. The Group’s 
bank and loan facili�es are detailed in Note 15. 

Onerous lease provision 

Onerous  
lease  

provision 
2017 
£000 

Onerous  
contract  

provision 
2017 
£000 

Total  
provisions 

2017 
£000 

Onerous  
lease  

provision 
2016 
£000 

Onerous  
contract  

provision 
2016 
£000 

Total  
provisions 

2016 
£000 

Current 47 32 79 56 — 56 
Non-current 137 — 137 171 — 171 

  184 32 216 227 — 227 

Move�ent in provisions in t�e repor�ng period� 
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Balance at 1 May 227 148 

Unwinding of discount 22 22 

U�lised in t�e year (65) (32) 

Ac�uired t�roug� �usiness co��ina�ons 32 — 

Created in year — 89 

Balance at 30 April 216 227 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



2016-2017 ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 

Financial statements 

Notes to the financial statements continued 
For the year ended 30 April 2017 

17 Financial instruments �con�nued� 
Categories of financial instruments 
�inancial liabili�es and assets included in the balance sheet relate to the following IAS 39 categories: 

   2016  
  Financial 

liabili�es at 
amor�sed 

cost 
£000 

Non- 
financial 
liabili�es 

£000 

Total for 
balance 

sheet 
heading 

£000  

Financial 
liabili�es at 

amor�sed cost 
£000 

Non- 
financial 
liabili�es 

£000 

Total for 
balance 

sheet 
heading 

£000 

Balance sheet headings – liabili�es              
Trade payables 1,365 — 1,365  2,148 — 2,148 
Accrued expenses 1,436 — 1,436  1,955 — 1,955 
�eten�ons held on contracts — 832 832  — 525 525 
Deferred income — 495 495  — 51 51 
Deferred considera�on 290 — 290  — — — 
Other payables 716 — 716  702 — 702 
Taxa�on and social security payables — 162 162  — 69 69 
Borrowings 2,636 — 2,636  2,010 — 2,010 
Provisions — 216 216  — 227 227 
Total 6,443 1,705 8,148  6,815 872 7,687 

  

  2017 2016 

  
Loans and 

receivables 
£000 

Non- 
financial 

assets 
£000 

Total for 
balance 

sheet 
heading 

£000  
Loans and 

receivables 
£000 

Non- 
financial 

assets 
£000 

Total for 
balance 

sheet 
heading 

£000 

Balance sheet headings – assets              
Amounts due from associated companies 
– non-current 387 — 387  760 — 760 

Cash and cash equivalents 89 — 89  23 — 23 
Trade receivables 717 — 717  400 — 400 
Amounts recoverable on contracts 3,338 — 3,338  4,674 — 4,674 
�eten�ons held on contracts — 789 789  — 351 351 
VAT recoverable — — —  — 1 1 
Prepayments and other debtors 93 294 387  — 190 190 
Total 4,624 1,083 5,707  5,857 542 6,399 

2017  

All of the Group’s financial assets and liabili�es are held at amor�sed cost. The directors are of the opinion that there is no 
material difference between the book value and the fair value of any of the Group’s assets or liabili�es. 
 
Financial risk management 
The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash resources and various items such as trade receivables and trade payables 
that arise directly from its opera�ons. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s 
opera�ons. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, li�uidity risk and interest �uctua�on 
risk. The Group operates solely in pounds sterling and therefore has no exchange rate risk. The Board reviews and determines 
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied 
throughout the period. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will fail to discharge its obliga�on. The Group’s principal financial assets are bank 
balances and trade and other receivables, which represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in rela�on to  
financial assets. 
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17 �inancial instru�ents (con�nued) 
 
The Group’s credit ris� is a�ributable to its trade receivables of £717,000 (2016: £400,000) and amounts recoverable on 
contracts of £3,338,000 (2016: £4,674,000). The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doub�ul 
receivables, es�mated by the Group’s management based on prior experience and management’s assessment of the current 
economic environment. 
 
Details of revenue earned from the Group’s main customer during the year are set out in Note 1. New customers are subject 
to a credit assessment before entering into transac�ons, using external credit reference agencies where available, obtaining 
trade references and by reviewing their current financial posi�on, past experience and other factors. Credit limits are  
reviewed on an ongoing basis and are subject to senior management overview. The payment posi�on of past due trade  
receivables is regularly reviewed and ac�vely managed. No collateral is held by the Group in rela�on to its financial assets. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Amounts recoverable on contracts relate to projects ongoing as at 30 April 2017. Some of the balances have not yet been 
invoiced in the post-balance sheet period. Management believes that the balances are recoverable based on their ongoing 
review of the current status of each project and the current financial status of each customer. 
 
The Group obtains sufficient liquidity at all �mes by efficient cash management and by ensuring that only creditworthy  
customers are engaged with. 
 
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabili�es into relevant maturity groupings based upon the remaining period 
at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual  
undiscounted cash flows, inclusive of expected interest payments.  

At 30 April 2017 
Up to 1 year 

£000 
1–2 years 

£000 
2–5 years 

£000 

More than 
5 years 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Total 
discount 

£000 

Carrying 
value 
£000 

�on�deriva�ve �nancial lia�ili�es               
Borrowings 2,371 384 — — 2,755 (119) 2,636 
Trade and other payables 3,807 — — — 3,807 — 3,807 

  6,178 384 — — 6,562 (119) 6,443 
Discount (110) (9) — — (119)     
Carrying value 6,068 375 — — 6,443     

At 30 April 2016 
Up to 1 year 

£000 
1–2 years 

£000 
2–5 years 

£000 

More than 
5 years 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Total 
discount 

£000 

Carrying 
value 
£000 

�on�deriva�ve �nancial liabili�es               
Borrowings 1,584 210 344 — 2,138 (128) 2,010 
Trade and other payables 4,805 — — — 4,805 — 4,805 

  6,389 210 344 — 6,943 (128) 6,815 
Discount (100) (19) (9) — (128)     
Carrying value 6,289 191 335 — 6,815     

At 30 April 2017 
Up to 1 year 

£000 
1–2 years 

£000 
2–5 years 

£000 

More than 
5 years 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Total 
discount 

£000 

Carrying 
value 
£000 

�on�deriva�ve �nancial assets               
Amounts due from associated  
companies 100 150 375 519 1,144 (664) 480 

Cash and cash equivalents 89 — — — 89 — 89 
Trade receivables 717 — — — 717 — 717 
Amounts recoverable on contracts 3,338 — — — 3,338 — 3,338 
  4,244 150 375 519 5,288 (664) 4,624 
Discount (7) (26) (112) (519) (664)     
Carrying value 4,237 124 263 — 4,624     
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17 �inancial instruments �con�nued� 

Interest rate risk 
�etails of the Group�s overdra� and loan liabili�es, security given and interest rate exposure are set out in Note 15. 
The Group is therefore exposed to �uctua�ons in the bank base rates. The Group seeks to minimise such risk by entering 
into fixed interest rate arrangements where it is financially viable to do so. The Group does not undertake interest rate  
hedging on its general borrowings and only considers undertaking interest rate hedging for project-specific term loans. 
 
18 Share capital 
The ordinary shares have full vo�ng rights and are en�tled to receipt of dividends. 

Share op�ons 

The �ompany operates an e�uity-se�led share op�on scheme under which it has granted share op�ons to its execu�ve 
directors and certain senior managers. Those outstanding at 30 April 2017 are set out below: 

The op�ons have an exercise price of �.75p and will not become exercisable unless and un�l the �ompany�s share price 
e�uals or exceeds 37p for a period of at least �0 consecu�ve days on or before 1 November 2023, and upon exercise is at or 
above the 37p threshold. The share price at 30 April 2017 was 6.73p.  

At 30 April 2016 
Up to 1 year 

£000 
1–2 years 

£000 
2–5 years 

£000 

More than 
5 years 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Total 
discount 

£000 

Carrying 
value 
£000 

Non�deriva�ve �nancial assets               
Amounts due from associated  
companies 20 400 724 — 1,144 (384) 760 

Cash and cash equivalents 23 — — — 23 — 23 
Trade receivables 400 — — — 400 — 400 
Amounts recoverable on contracts 4,674 — — — 4,674 — 4,674 
  5,117 400 724 — 6,241 (384) 5,857 

Discount (2) (114) (268) — (384)     
Carrying value 5,115 286 456 — 5,857     

  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Allo�ed, called up and full� paid     
59,372,323 (2016: 58,807,084) ordinary shares of 1 pence each 594 588 

Number of shares 2017 2016 

At 1 May 58,807,084 58,319,755 
New shares issued to Ashley House Share �ncen�ve �lan 565,239 487,329 
At 30 April 59,372,323 58,807,084 

  As at 30 April 2016 and 30 April 2017 

J Holmes 2,000,000 
A J Walters 2,200,000 
Senior management 1,600,000 
Total 5,800,000 



18 Share capital (con�nued) 
 
The fair value of each op�on was calculated as 2.88p, using the �lack �choles model. The key assump�ons used in this  
calcula�on were an exercise period of 8 years; a risk free rate of return of 0.6��; an expected share price vola�lity of 2��; 
and that all share op�ons will vest and be exercised. 
 
The Company recognised a net charge of £21,000 (2016: credit of £12,000� related to e�uity-se�led share-based  
payment schemes. 
 
19 Other reserves 

The share premium account is amounts subscribed for issued share capital in excess of nominal value. The share-based  
payments reserve is the fair value of share-based payments recognised for which shares have yet to be issued. The special 
reserve was created following a capital restructure in the year ended 30 April 2014 in which the Company’s share premium 
was cancelled and allocated to the special reserve. The Company is permi�ed to charge future annual losses to the special 
reserve. Future annual profits are credited to the profit and loss reserve.  
 
20 Capital commitments 
 
The Group did not have any capital commitments at 30 April 2017 or 30 April 2016. 
 
21 Opera�ng lease arrangements 
 
The Group as lessee 
At the balance sheet date the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under  
non-cancellable opera�ng leases, which fall due as follows: 

  Share premium 
£000 

Share-based 
payment reserve 

£000 
Special reserve 

£000 

Non-controlling 
interest 

£000 
At 1 May 2016 43 10 3,248 — 
Total comprehensive income for the year — — (135) 12 
Non-controlling interest adjustment arising on ac�uisi�on of  
F1 Modular Limited — — — (14) 

Non-controlling interest adjustment arising on increase in  
shareholding of F1 Modular Limited — — — (2) 

New shares issued to Ashley House Share �ncen�ve �lan 39 — — — 

Share-based payment charge — 21 — — 

At 30 April 2017 82 31 3,113 (4) 

  Share premium 
£000 

Share-based 
payment reserve 

£000 
Special reserve 

£000 

At 1 May 2015 — 22 3,491 
Transfer of losses of Ashley House plc for year ended 30 April 2016 — — (243) 
New shares issued to Ashley House Share �ncen�ve �lan 43 — — 

Share-based payment credit — (12) — 

At 30 April 2016 43 10 3,248 

  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Less than one year 36 47 
Between one and five years 65 99 
Five years or more — — 

  101 146 
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  ��ounts o�ed �� related �ar�es ��ounts o�ed to related �ar�es 

  2017 
£000 

                  2016 
£000 

2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Joint ventures 12 22 — — 
Joint ventures – loans 760 760 655 655 
�ther related �ar�es 5 — 6 — 
�ther related �ar�es – loans — — 2,000 — 

21 ��era�n� lease arran�e�ents �con�n�e�� 
 
Lease payments recognised as an expense during the year amount to £90,000 (2016: £105,000). The Group has opera�ng 
lease commitments for certain offices. �pera�ng lease agreements do not contain any con�ngent rent clauses. None of the 
opera�ng lease agreements contain renewal or purchase op�ons or any restric�ons. The leases may be renewed when due. 
 
Ashley House plc acts as lease guarantor on behalf of Partnering Health Limited, an associate company, for a lease its  
subsidiary Best Prac�ce (South of England) Limited holds in respect of medical facili�es at a property in Hampshire.  
Annual rental payable under this lease, which expires in March 2037, is £189,500. The accommoda�on is sublet to various 
medical prac��oners and the directors are confident that lease costs will be fully recouped over the dura�on of the lease. 
 
22 Con�n�ent l�a��l��es 
 
Under the terms of a loan facility held with Lloyds Banking Group to AH Scarborough Health Park Limited for £527,000  
(2016: £710,000) (see Note 16), the Group provided a corporate guarantee for a principal amount of £1,800,000 plus interest 
and other costs, secured on the land. 
 
2� �elate� �art� transac�ons 
 
During the year the Group and Company traded with the following related par�es: 
 
�ransac�ons 

The Group earned income of £17,900 (2016: £17,900) and made payments of £37,500 (2016: £nil) to companies owned by 
Invescare Limited. Investors in Invescare Limited include Stephen Minion, Non�execu�ve Deputy Chairman of Ashley House 
plc. Stephen also sits on the board of Invescare. The Group also made payments of £5,000 (2016: £nil) to Stephen Minion.  
The Group earned income of £63,600 (2016: £nil) from Greensphere Modular Limited. The sole investor and director in 
Greensphere Modular Limited is Antony Morgan, director of F1 Modular Limited.  
 
The Group made payments of £16,400 (2016: £nil) for services rendered to GBT Design Limited. Gruffydd Thomas, director of 
F1 Modular Limited, is a director of GBT Design Limited.  
 
The Group made payments of £10,200 (2016: £nil) to Gruffydd Thomas, director of F1 Modular Limited in respect of rent due 
for that company’s factory premises.  
 
All related party transac�ons were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transac�ons. 
 
Balances 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Details of directors’ remunera�on, who are the key management personnel of the Group, can be found in Note 4 and the 
�emunera�on Commi�ee report.  
 
24 Control 
 
Ashley House plc, a company registered in England and Wales, is the ul�mate parent company of the Group. 

       Sale of goods and services      Purchase of goods and services 

  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Joint ventures 25 517 — — 
�ther related �ar�es 82 18 107 — 
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2� �us�ness �om��na�ons 
 
On 24 May 2016, the Company acquired a controlling interest in F1 Modular Limited through the purchase of 52% of the 
issued share capital for total considera�on of £52. 
 
On 14 March 2017 the Group acquired a further 24% of the share capital for total considera�on of £262,000. On the same 
day, F1 Modular Limited acquired the trade and assets of Swi� Manufacturing Solu�ons Limited for £114,000. As at 30 April 
2017, a review conducted by the Group concluded there had been no impairment to goodwill. F1 Modular Limited is an  
o��site modular construc�on business based in Wales. 
 
The following tables summarise the considera�on paid by the Company, the fair value of assets acquired, liabili�es  
assumed and the minority interest at the acquisi�on dates. 
 
�ons�dera�on:  

�e�o�n�sed amounts o� �den��a��e assets a��u�red and ��a�����es assumed: 

* �o di�erence in fair value and boo� value at date of acquisi�on. 
 
Con�ngent considera�on is payable once Ashley House plc receives se�lement of amounts loaned to F1 Modular Limited. 
 

In the period between 24 May 2016 and 30 April 2017 F1 Modular Limited contributed revenue of £727,000 and net profit 
of £11,000 to the Group’s revenue and net profit. In the period between 1 May 2016 and 23 May 2016 F1 Modular Limited 
did not record any revenue or profit. Informa�on concerning the financial performance of Swi� Manufacturing Solu�ons 
Limited for the period from 1 May 2016 to 14 March 2017 is unavailable. 
 
26 Post year end events 
 
In June 2017 Ashley House plc drew a short term loan of £200,000 from Maureen Moy, spouse of John Moy, a non�execu�ve 
director of the Company. Interest on the facility is chargeable at a fixed rate of 15.00% per annum. The facility is in place 
un�l October 2017 and is secured by a charge over certain of the Group’s assets. In June 2017 the Group disposed of its 
interest in AH Walton Limited under the normal course of business. In September 2017 F1 Modular Limited drew a short 
term loan of £90,000 from Invescare Limited. The loan is secured on certain contractual payments and is repayable when 
those contractual payments are received from the customer. Interest is chargeable at a fixed rate of 10.00% per annum. 

  

Considera�on at  
24 May 2016 

£000 

Considera�on at  
14 March 2017 

£000 

 
�ota� �ons�dera�on 

£000 
Cash — 10 10 
Con�ngent considera�on — 240 240 
�irectly a�ributable costs — 12 12 
Total considera�on — 262 262 

  
*Fair value at  
24 May 2016 

£000 

*Fair value at  
14 March 2017 

£000 
Property, plant and equipment — 142 
Cash and cash equivalents 12 14 
Inventories — 98 
Trade and other receivables 2 28 
Trade and other payables (43) (564) 
Borrowings — (109) 
�ota� �den��a��e net ��a�����es (29) (391) 
      
�on�controlling interest at date of acquisi�on 14 (2) 
Share of assets owned at date of acquisi�on — (5) 
�oodwill arising on acquisi�on 15 400 
Charge to equity on increase in shareholding — 260 
�ota� �ons�dera�on � 262 
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�naudited informa�on 
 
�emunera�on �ommi�ee statement 
The �roup�s policy on execu�ve directors� remunera�on is to: 
 
• a�ract and retain high �uality execu�ves �y paying compe��ve remunera�on packages relevant to each director�s role, 

experience and the external market. The packages include contri�u�ons to private medical insurance� and 
• give incen�ve to directors to maximise shareholder value through a long-term reward approach, mainly through the 

award of share op�ons, which are not exercisa�le immediately, against key performance indicators. 
 
The �emunera�on �ommi�ee has only needed to meet once during the year to con�rm director pay and condi�ons.  
The �ommi�ee will reconsider remunera�on for execu�ve directors over the coming months. 
 
Service agreements 
 
�o director has a service agreement with a no�ce period that exceeds three months. 
 
�udited informa�on 
 
�irectors� remunera�on 

The total employer�s �a�onal �nsurance for directors was £59,�99 (2016: £51,823). 
 
 
 

  

Salaries, 
fees and 

short term 
benefits 

2017 
£ 

Group 
pension 

contribu�ons 
2017 

£ 

Total 
2017 

£ 

Salaries, 
fees and 

short term 
benefits 

2016 
£ 

Group 
pension 

�ontribu�ons 
2016 

£ 

Total 
2016 

£ 

J Holmes 183,219 6,520 189,739 160,100 6,400 166,500 

A J Walters 203,657 7,335 210,992 180,160 7,200 187,360 

��ecu�ve 386,876 13,855 400,731 340,260 13,600 353,860 

C P Lyons 40,900 — 40,900 40,000 — 40,000 

S G Minion 32,948 1,227 34,175 32,162 1,200 33,362 

J L Moy  17,580 — 17,580 4,604 — 4,604 

A J Wille�s — — — — — — 

�on�e�ecu�ve 91,428 1,227 92,655 76,766 1,200 77,966 

  478,304 15,082 493,386 417,026 14,800 431,826 



54 

Directors’ interests 
 
The directors who held office at the end of the financial year had the following long term beneficial interests, including any 
held by their spouse, in the ordinary share capital of Ashley House plc at 30 April 2017 according to the register of directors’ 
interests: 

�nterests in share op�ons 
 
The Company operates an equity�se�led share op�on scheme under which it has granted share op�ons to its execu�ve 
directors and certain senior managers. The op�ons granted are cancelled in the event of the op�on holder leaving the  
Company. The op�ons held by directors at 30 April 2017 are set out below: 

The op�ons have an exercise price of 9.75p and will not become exercisable unless and un�l the Company’s share price 
equals or exceeds 37p for a period of at least 90 consecu�ve days on or before 1 November 2023, and upon exercise is at or 
above the 37p threshold.  
 
Market value of shares  
 
Between 1 May 2016 and 30 April 2017 the shares traded in the range 6.59 pence to 10.31 pence. At 30 April 2017 the share 
price was 6.73 pence per share (2016: 9.25 pence per share). 
 
Highest paid director 
 
The Companies Act 2006 requires certain disclosures about the remunera�on of the highest paid director ta�ing into  
account emoluments, gains on exercise of share op�ons and amounts receivable under long�term incen�ve schemes.  
On this basis, the highest paid director in the year was A J Walters and details of his remunera�on are disclosed on page 53. 
 
Stephen Minion 
Chairman of the Remunera�on Commi�ee 
29 September 2017 

  

  
  
  

Percentage 
shareholding 

held at 30 
April 2016 (%) 

  
  
  

Percentage 
shareholding 

held at 30 
April 2017 (%) 

Number of 
shares of 

1 pence 
held at 

30 April 
2016 

Acquired 
during 

year 

Number of 
shares of 

1 pence 
held at 

30 April 
2017 

J Holmes 3.64 3.71 2,143,390 57,351 2,200,741 

C P Lyons 0.39 0.62 226,500 143,000 369,500 

S G Minion 6.91 6.84 4,062,825 — 4,062,825 

J L Moy 7.65 11.62 4,500,000 2,400,000 6,900,000 

A J Walters 1.08 1.16 633,654 57,351 691,005 

  As at 30 April 2016 and 30 April 2017 

J Holmes           2,000,000 

A J Walters           2,200,000 
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The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors and authorised for issue on 29 September 2017.  
 
They were signed on its behalf by: 
 
Antony Walters 
Chief Execu�ve 
 
Company number: 02563627 
 
The accompanying accoun�ng policies and notes on pages 57 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

  Note 
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Fixed assets       
Tangible assets 2 90 129 

Investments 3 1,642 769 

Deferred tax asset 4 1,400 1,400 

Other debtors 5 387 760 

    3,519 3,058 

Current assets       
Work in progress 6 106 106 

Debtors 7 7,494 7,628 

Cash at bank and in hand   51 22 

    7,651 7,756 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 8 (7,188) (6,741) 

Provisions 9 (43) (42) 

    (7,231) (6,783) 

Net current assets   420 973 

Long term provisions 9 (119) (142) 

�otal lia�ili�es   (7,350) (6,925) 

Net assets   3,820 3,889 

Capital and reserves       
Called up share capital 10 594 588 

Share premium 11 82 43 

Share-based payment reserve 11 31 10 

Special reserve 11 3,113 3,248 

Profit and loss account 11 — — 

Shareholders’ funds   3,820 3,889 

Current lia�ili�es    
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�he accompan�ing acco�n�ng policies an� notes on pages �� to �� form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Company statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 April 2017 

    

Share 
capital 

£000 

Share 
premium 

£000 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
£000 

Special 
reserve 

£000 

Profit and 
loss account 

£000 
Total 
£000 

 Note  10 11 11 11     

At 1 May 2016   588 43 10 3,248 — 3,889 

                

Total comprehensive loss for the year   — — — (135) — (135) 

                

Transac�ons �ith o�ners               
Issue of shares to Ashley House  
Share Incen�ve Plan   6 39 — — — 45 

Share op�on scheme char�e   — — 21 — — 21 

                

At 30 April 2017   594 82 31 3,113 — 3,820 

    

Share 
capital 

£000 

Share 
premium 

£000 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
£000 

Special  
reserve 

£000 

Profit and 
loss account 

£000 
Total 
£000 

 Note  10 11 11 11     
At 1 May 2015   583 — 22 3,491 — 4,096 
                
Total comprehensive loss for the year   — — — (243) — (243) 
                
Transac�ons �ith o�ners               
Issue of shares to Ashley House  
Share Incen�ve Plan   

5 43 — — — 48 

�ancella�on of previous share op�on scheme   — — (22) — — (22) 
Ne� share op�on scheme char�e   — — 10 — — 10 
                
At 30 April 2016   588 43 10 3,248 — 3,889 
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financial statements  
For the year ended 30 April 2017 
�asis o� prepara�on  
 
These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Repor�ng Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure  
Framework. This is the first year in which the financial statements have been prepared under FRS 101.  
The principal accoun�ng policies of the Company are set out below.  
 
�isclosure e�emp�ons adopted  
 
In preparing these financial statements the Company has taken advantage of all disclosure exemp�ons conferred by FRS 101. 
Therefore these financial statements do not include:  
  
• A statement of cash flows and related notes;  
• A balance sheet at the beginning of the earliest compara�ve period;  
• Disclosure of related party transac�ons entered into between two or more members of the Group as they are wholly owned 

within the Group;  
• �resenta�on of compara�ve reconcilia�ons for property, plant and equipment;  
• Disclosure of key management personnel compensa�on;  
• Capital management disclosures;  
• The e�ect of future accoun�ng standards not adopted;  
• Certain share based payment disclosures;  
• Disclosures in rela�on to impairment of assets; and   
• Disclosures in respect of financial instruments (other than disclosures required as a result of recording financial instruments 

at fair value)  
  
Going concern  
 
The policy for going concern is detailed in the accoun�ng policies of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
  
Turnover  
 
The policy for turnover is detailed in the revenue recogni�on accoun�ng policy of the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group.  
  
Tangi�le ��ed assets and deprecia�on 
 
The policy for tangible fixed assets and deprecia�on is detailed in the property, plant and equipment accoun�ng policy of the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
  
Investments  
 
Investments in subsidiaries are included at cost, less any provision for amounts wri�en o� to the profit and loss account.  
  
Work in progress  
 
The policy for work in progress is detailed in the accoun�ng policies of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
  
�e�erred ta�a�on  
 
The policy for deferred tax is detailed in the income taxes accoun�ng policy of the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group.  
  
Leased assets  
 
Costs in respect of opera�ng leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
  
Financial instruments  
 
The policy for financial instruments is detailed in the accoun�ng policies of the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group.  
  
Provisions  
 
The policy for provisions is detailed in the accoun�ng policies of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  

57 



1 Loss for the financial year 
 
The Company has ta�en advantage of the exemp�on allowed under �ec�on 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not  
presented its own profit and loss account in these financial statements. The Company’s loss for the year a�er tax was 
£135,000 (2016: loss of £243,000). 
 
Details of directors’ remunera�on and employee costs are set out in Note 3 to the Group financial statements and in the  
�emunera�on Commi�ee report. 
 
2 Tangible assets 

3 Investments 

The directors have considered the carrying value of the Company’s investments as part of the impairment review of the  
associated investment in the Group.  The Company has investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures which are all incorporated 
in the United Kingdom. These are listed in Appendix 1. 
 

4 Deferred tax 
 
The Company has recognised a deferred tax asset in respect of unused tax losses. Details are included in Note 8 of the  
consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 

5 Other debtors 
 

Details of the Company’s other debtors are included in Note 10 of the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

    

Office 
equipment, 

furniture 
and fixtures 

£000 

Motor 
vehicles 

£000 
Total 
£000 

Cost         
At 1 May 2016   202 52 254 

Addi�ons   16 — 16 

Disposals   (10) (8) (18) 

At 30 April 2017   208 44 252 

Deprecia�on         

At 1 May 2016   81 44 125 

Charge for the year   50 4 54 

Disposals   (10) (7) (17) 

At 30 April 2017   121 41 162 

Carrying amount at 30 April 2017   87 3 90 

Carrying amount at 30 April 2016   121 8 129 

  

Subsidiary 
undertakings 

and joint 
ventures 

£000 

At 1 May 2016 769 

Addi�ons 520 
Impairment charge in the year (302) 

Reversal of impairment charge previously recorded 655 

Carrying amount at 30 April 2017 1,642 
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6 Work in progress 

7 Debtors 

Amounts owed by Group undertakings due in more than one year were £nil (2016: £nil). 

8 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

The Group has available to it a £950,000 (2016: £500,000) overdra� facility provided by �loyds �anking Group.  
 
The facility was not u�lised at either 30 April 2017 or 30 April 2016. Interest on the facility is chargeable at a variable rate of 
6.00% (2016: 6.00%) per annum over the bank’s base rate, which at 30 April 2017 was 0.25% (2016: 0.50%). The facility is 
secured by a �oa�ng charge over the Group’s assets. The facility is scheduled to reduce to £750,000 on 30 September 2017 
and then remains in place un�l 31 December 2017. 
 
9 Provisions 

 

Onerous lease provisions are recognised in respect of leases held for proper�es which are not occupied or u�lised.  
At 30 April 2017 the Company held one such lease (2016: one) with an unexpired lease term of 5 years. The provision for 
onerous lease costs represents management’s best es�mate of the present value of future lease payments that the Company 
is obliged to make under non-cancellable leases. 
 
10 Share capital 
 
Details of the Company’s share capital, op�ons and warrants are included in Note 18 of the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group. 

  2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Land 106 106 

  2017 
£000 

 2016 
£000 

Trade debtors 584 400 
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 2,458 2,018 
Amounts recoverable on contracts 4,105 5,025 
Prepayments and other debtors 347 185 

  7,494 7,628 

  
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Trade creditors 1,312 2,150 
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 185 — 
�undry creditors, �AT and taxa�on payables 827 737 
Accrued expenses 2,160 2,503 
Deferred income 454 51 

Deferred considera�on 250 — 

Other loans 2,000 1,300 

  7,188 6,741 

Onerous lease provision 
2017 
£000 

2016 
£000 

Current 43 42 
Non-current 119 142 
  162 184 

Financial statements 

Notes to the company  
financial statements continued 
For the year ended 30 April 2017 
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11 Reserves 
 
No dividends were paid by the Company for either the year ended 30 April 2017 or the year ended 30 April 2016. 
 
For more informa�on about the nature and extent of the share�based payment arrangements, please see the 
accoun�ng policies in the Group’s financial statements. 
 
The nature and purpose of the Company’s reserves can be found in Note 19 of the consolidated financial  
statements of the Group. 
 
12 Capital commitments 
 
The Company did not have any capital commitments at 30 April 2017 or 30 April 2016. 
 
1� �pera�n� lease arran�ements 
 
The Company’s commitments under opera�ng leases are set out in Note 21 of the consolidated financial  
statements of the Group. 
 
1� Con�n�ent lia�ili�es 
 
The Company’s con�ngent liabili�es are set out in Note 22 of the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
1� Relate� part� transac�ons 
 
The Company’s related party transac�ons are set out in Note 23 of the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group. The Company is exempt under FRS 101.8(k) from disclosing transac�ons with other wholly�owned Group 
undertakings on the grounds that the Company is included in its own published consolidated financial statements. 
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Appendix 
Details of investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures: 

 Subsidiaries 
  

Shareholder 
Nature 
of work 

Class of 
share capital held 

�ropor�on 
held 

Ashley House Clinical  
Services Limited Ashley House plc Management services Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Scarborough Health Park 
Limited Ashley House plc Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Ashley House (Capital  
Projects) Limited Ashley House plc Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Neil Nible� � Associates 
Limited Ashley House plc Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Sapphire Primary Care  
Developments Limited Ashley House plc Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Strategic Property  
Solu�ons Limited Ashley House plc Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Supported Living  
Limited Ashley House plc Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Ashley Novoe Limited Ashley House plc Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

F1 Modular Limited Ashley House plc Modular property  
development Ordinary shares of £1 each 76% 

F1 Construc�on Limited F1 Modular Limited Modular property  
development Ordinary shares of £1 each 76% 

Ashley House  
Developments Limited 

Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Grimsby Willowdene 
Limited 

Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Peterborough Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Health and Community  
Investments Limited 

Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH �e�ord Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Eastwood Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Danbury Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Danbury 2 Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Grimsby Winchester  
Limited 

Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Grimsby Pelham  
Limited 

Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Bristol �e�rement Living  
Extra Care Housing  Limited 

Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Havant Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Mayhill Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Wivenhoe Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Walton Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Walton (HSN) Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Hampshire Living Space  
Limited 

Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Greville Demen�a Care  
Limited 

Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Leicester Tilling Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Hamelin Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

AH Belmont Limited Ashley House  
(Capital Projects) Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Ashley Supported Housing 
Limited 

AH Supported Living  
Limited Property development Ordinary shares of £1 each 100% 

Joint ventures and associates       
Odyssey Health Investors  
Limited Ashley House plc Management services Ordinary shares of £1 each 50% 

Infracare Group Limited Ashley House plc Holding company Ordinary shares of £1 each 50% 

AHBB LHIL Holdings Limited Ashley House plc Holding company Ordinary shares of £1 each 50% 

AHBB ELL Holdings Limited Ashley House plc Holding company Ordinary shares of £1 each 50% 

AHLP Pharmacy Limited Ashley House plc Pharmacy Ordinary shares of £1 each 25% 

Partnering Health Limited Ashley House  
Clinical Services Limited Clinical services Ordinary shares of £1 each 33% 

IPC Plus Limited Ashley House  
Clinical Services Limited Management services Ordinary shares of £1 each 50% 
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�om�any registra�on num�er 
02563627 
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Unit 1, Barnes Wallis Court  
Wellington Road  

Cressex Business Park  
High Wycombe HP12 3PS 

 
Directors 

 
 

  
 
 
 

Secretary 
S Ronaldson 

 
 

Nominated Adviser and Broker 
WH Ireland Limited 

24 Mar�n Lane  
London EC4R 0DR 

 
 

Bankers 
Lloyds Banking Group 

High Street 
Slough 

Berkshire SL1 1DH 
 
 

Solicitors 
S�uire Pa�on Boggs �UK� LLP 

6 Wellington Place 
Leeds LS1 4AP 

 
 

Auditor 
Grant Thornton UK LLP 

3140 Rowan Place 
John Smith Drive 

Oxford Business Park South 
Oxford OX4 2WB 

 
 

C P Lyons 
S G Minion 
A J Walters 
J Holmes 
J L Moy 
A J Wille�s 

�on�execu�ve Chairman 
�on�execu�ve Deputy Chairman 

Chief Execu�ve 
Commercial Director 

�on�execu�ve Director 
�on�execu�ve Director 
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Telephone 
01628 600340 
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enquiries@ashleyhouseplc.com 
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